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COMMISSION OF INQUIRY

WITNESS STATEMENT OF
LEUNG CHI- KWONG ERC, CHIEF BUILDING SERVICES ENGINEER
OF KWAI LUEN ESTATE PHASE 2

1. I, LEUNG CHI - KWONG ERIC, provide this statement in
respectofthe CommissionofinquiryintoExcessLea d
Found in Drinking Water (COI) and in response to a
request from the COI dated 12 October 2015 . The
statement addresses matters relating to one of the
AAffected Estateso being Kwai Luen
2. | am a Building Services Engineer by profession, a

Corporate Member of The Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers and joined the Housing Department (HD) in

1982, which is the executive arm of the Housing
Authority (HA) . | have been involved in the
construction of Kwai Luen Estate Phase 2 as Chief
BuildingS  ervicesEngineerfrom8September2011until
now. The certified completion date of the domestic

blocks of the Estate is 30 April 2014 . I therefore
have direct knowledge of the project from early
September201lonwards . Whereaslhavehadtoobtain
infor mation before early September 2011 from other
sourcesorpursuanttodiscussionswithcolleaguesfor
preparation of this statement.

3. lhavereviewedtheletterfromLo&LoSolicitorsdated
12 October 2015 and address the matters raised
togetherwithoth ermattersiconsiderrelevanttothe
COl.

4. For the purposes of this Statement | refer to the
different work stages as Pre - contract, Construction
and Completion.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
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A. Chief Building Services Engineer

Responsibilities as Section H ead

5. As Chief Building Services Engineer (CBSE), | am
responsibleforoverseeingvariousBuilding Services
(BS)mattersonbehalfoftheHAfrominception(design)
through to completion of new construction projects
Being one of the Chief Professionals of the BS
discipline, my responsibilities as Section Head
pertainingtothefreshwaterplumbingsysteminclude:

a. the design, specification, tender and contract
administration, inspection of works and
confirmation of completion of works for the
installat ion of water pumps, suction and
discharge pipework and sundry pipework
(hereinafter referred to as water pumps and
associated pipework) inside fresh water up - feed
pump room on ground floor and booster pump room
on roof (hereinafter referred to as water pum p
rooms) of each blockunderthe Fire Servicesand
Water Pump (FSWP) Nominated Sub - contract;

b. following up any non - performance of the FSWP
Nominated Sub - contractorinthe maintenance and
defects rectification of the water pumps and
associated pipework in side water pump rooms
during the two - year Maintenance Period;

C. thedesignandspecificationforthefreshwater
plumbing system outside water pump rooms
(excluding sanitary appliances under the Main
Contract); and

d. myroleinrespectofcontractadmini strationand
works inspection is limited to the work of the
FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor for the works
inside water pumprooms stated above whereasfor
the plumbing installations outside water pump
roomsmyroleisrestrictedtooneofestablishing
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thede signandspecificationonly . Thecontract
administration and works inspection of the

plumbing installations outside water pumprooms
fallwithintheremitofthe ChiefArchitect(CA)

and her team (see paragraphs 17 & 18 below).

| am assisted by Senior Building Services Engineers
(SBSE), Building Services Engineers (BSE), Building
Services technical staff and Building Services
inspectorate staff to discharge my duties.

Project Specific Responsibilities

7.

Under the Main Contract of Kwai Luen Estate Phase 2,
theCA,actingasContractManager(CM),delegatesthe
CBSEastheCM'sRepresentative(CMR) . Thedutiesand
powersvestedintheCMundertheMainContractinsofar
astheyconcernBSWorks, withrespectto (i) General

Conditions of Contract Clause (G CC)65(2) (termed as
useofPrime Cost,Provisionaland Contingency Sums);
and(ii)GCCClause66&SpecialConditionsofContract

(SCC)Clause25(termedasvariedformofsub - contract
and objections to nomination), are now produced and
shown to me marked AEXxhi bit 10.

As stated above, the CBSE is assisted by ateamof BS

staff to discharge his duties . The Project BSE is
delegated by the CM as a CMR and is responsible for

the administration of Building Services Nominated

Sub- contracts (including FSWP No minated
Sub- contract), with the assistance of the Project

Building Services Inspectors (BSI).

BS staffwho have beeninvolvedinthe projectare as
follows:

a. CKLeungistheCBSEfromSeptember2011tilinow;
CS Ho (from August 2011 to September 2011) was
theCBSEsincecommencementoftheMainContract;

b. PK Tam is the Project SBSE from July 2012 till
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now; CW Hui (from August 2011 to July 2012) was
theSBSEsincecommencementoftheMainContract;

C. CMTseistheProjectBSEfromSeptember2012till
now; KM Tang (from July 2012to January 2015),YW
Yip (from July 2012 to September 2012), and CK
Cheng (from August 2011 to July 2012) were the
Project BSEs since commencement of the Main
Contract;

d. SNYip(fromAugust2011toMarch2013),KWCheung
(fro mMarch2013toSeptember2013), WKChu(from
September 2013 to January 2014), ST Au (from
January2014toApril2014)andSCTam(fromApril
2014 to project completion) were the Senior
BuildingServicesinspectors(SBSl)atdifferent
stages; and

e. SC Tam (from August 2011 to April 2014) and KM
Tam (from April2014to projectcompletion) were
the BSIs at different stages.

10. The Project BSE is responsible, in relation to the
fresh water plumbing system, for:

a. the design, specification, tender and contr act
administration including approval of drawings
and materials, inspection of works and
recommendation to CBSE for confirmation of
completionofworksfortheinstallationofwater
pumps and associated pipeworkinside water pump
rooms under the FSWP Nomin ated Sub - contract;

b. following up any non - performance of the FSWP
Nominated Sub-contractorinthemaintenanceand
defects rectification of the water pumps and
associated pipework inside water pump rooms
during the two - year Maintenance Period;

C. the desi gnand specification of the fresh water
plumbing system outside water pump rooms
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(excluding sanitary appliances under the Main

Contract), liaison with the Water Supplies
Department (WSD) on the availability of water

supply at design stage, obtaining approv al of
plumbing drawings from the WSD and producing

tender drawings and specifications; and

d. checking and advising from design perspective,
upon request from Project Architect, on the
approvalofplumbingmaterialsinstalledoutside
waterpumprooms(excl udingsanitaryappliances)
submitted by the Main Contractor under the Main
Contract at construction stage.

11. TheCBSE,withtheassistance ofthe Project SBSE, is
responsibleforthe supervisionofthe Project BSE at
all stagesofworkforthe duties sta tedinparagraph
10.

12. Atconstruction and completion stages, all contract
administrationincludingstatutorysubmissionstothe

Water Authority (WA) (i.e . Forms WWO46 and WWO0O132
Part 1) and works inspection for the fresh water
plumbing system outside water pump rooms are the

responsibility ofthe CAand herteam and do notfall

under the remit of the CBSE, exceptthat the Project

BSE would provide revised plumbing drawings as
necessarytotheProjectArchitectforissuingofSite
Instructionandsubmit reviseddrawingstotheWSDfor
approval if required.

13. The FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor was selected and
nominatedbytheHAandoverseenbytheCBSE . Forthis
project the FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor is Shun
Cheong Electrical Engineering Co., Ltd.

B. FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor

14. TheFSWPNominatedSub - contractorwasresponsiblefor
the installation, testing and commissioning of FSWP
installation during the Contract Period and
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subsequent maintenance during the two-year

MaintenancePeriodofthe FSWPNominatedSub - contract
Pertaining to the fresh water plumbing system, the
worksundertakenbytheFSWPNominatedSub - contractor

included only the installation of water pumps and
associated pipework inside the water pump rooms of
each block.

15. The FSWP Nominated Sub - contractorengagedalicensed
plumber (LP)forthe execution ofthe waterpumps and
associated pipework installation inside the water
pump rooms in accordance with the WSD's approved
drawings . The nature, size and quality of pipes and
fittings were as prescribed by the Waterworks
Ordinance and the Waterworks Regulations . The LP,
together with the Project Architect, notified the WA
ofthecommencementandcompletionofthewaterpumps
and associated pipework installation inside water
pump rooms which were carried outin accordance with
the WSD's approved drawings and WA's a ccepted
materials under Form WWO 46. Asoneofthe CMRs,the
ProjectBSE monitoredtheworksofthe FSWP Nominated
Sub- contractor for which the Main Contractor was
resp onsible.

16. The LP of water pumps and associated pipework
installationinsidewaterpumproomsforthisproject
is Yue Kam Man (Licence No. 03508).

C. Site Inspection Team

17. The CM's Site Inspection Team conducted periodic and

sample checks on materials and workmanship for
conformancetoSpecificationsandthe progressofthe
Main Contractor's works . The Site Inspection Team

comprised two disciplines with various ranks of Site
Staff as follows:

a. Building Works Team (comprising Senior Clerk of
Works, C lerk of Works, Assistant Clerk of Works
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and Works Supervisor) inspects Building Works
including builder's works requirements for BS
works;

b. Building Services Team (comprising Senior
Building Services Inspector, Building Services

Inspector, Assistant Buil ding Services

Inspector, Works Supervisor (Building Services))
inspects BS works.

18. Fortheinspectionofthefreshwaterplumbingsystem,
the Building Works Team inspected installation
outsidewaterpumproomsunderthesupervisionofthe
CA and the Pro ject Senior Architect | Project
Architect . TheBuildingServicesTeaminspectedthe
installation inside water pump rooms under the FSWP
NominatedSub - contract(seeparagraph33below)under
thesupervisionoftheProjectBSEwhowasinturnunder
the supe rvision of the CBSE, with the assistance of
the Project SBSE.

PRE CONTRACT STAGE- DESIGN AND SPECIFICATION

19. For the design and specification of the fresh water
plumbing system, the responsibilities of CBSE are
detailed in paragraphs 5, 10 and 11 above.

20. The complete plumbing system was designed in
accordance with the requirements stipulated in the
Waterworks Regulations (Cap 102A), WSD's Circular

Letters, handbooks and guidelines . Standard
specification and in - house design guidelines
(Building Servi ces Technical Guide on water pump and

water services installation and Technical Guide to
Public Housing Developments for water services
installation) were also adopted.

21. All plumbing materials specified by the HA complied
with the relevant British Stand ards | International
Standards asrequired underthe Waterworks Ordinance
and Regulations : All pipes and fittings were to
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conformtothespecificationandwhereapplicable,be
accepted by the WA for the intended application.

CONSTRUCTION STAGE

22.

23.

24.

25.

Uponco mmencementoftheWorksafterawardoftheMain
Contract and Nominated Sub - contracts, the FSWP
installationworkswereexecutedbytheFSWPNominated

Sub- contractor under the supervision of the Main
Contractor . The FSWP Nominated Sub- contract was
between the Main Contractor and the Nominated Sub-
contractor . Thereisnodirectcontractbetweenthe

HA and the Nominated Sub - contractor.

Material Submissions - Water Pumps and Associated

Pipework inside Water Pump Rooms

The FSWP Nominated Sub -contracto r submitted FSWP
materials via the Main Contractor to the CM for

approval . Disapproval by the CM would mean
resubmission by the FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor
until approval was obtained before such materials

could be used on site . From my recollection th ere

was .no issue arising from the materials approval
process.

The FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor was required to
submit material catalogues, test certificates and
otherrelevantcertificatestosubstantiatethewater
pumpsandassociatedpipeworkmater lalsforuseinside
water pump rooms fully complied with the
specifications via the Main Contractor for the
approval of the CM . This they did.

The Main Contractor vetted the FSWP Nominated
Sub- contractor's materials submissions which, with
respect to water pumps and associated pipework
installation inside pump rooms, normally included
equipmentsuch as fresh water pump, modulating float

valve, stainless steel pipe & fitting, ductile iron

pipe &fitting,gatevalve, strainer, stainlesssteel
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flexible co nnector, pressure reducing Vvalve,
non- return valve and pneumatic pressure vessel.

While verification of compliance with relevant
requirements could be effected through documental

checks, the Project BSE with the assistance of the

Project BSI required t he FSWP Nominated Sub-
contractortosubmitsamplesofsomematerialsviathe

Main Contractor to the CM for approval before the

commencement of the installation work . The sample
board consisted of water pipe and fittings and was

approved . Theapprovedsa mpleboardwasthenkeptin

the Project BSI's site office throughout the

Sub- contract period : The Project BSE with the
assistance of the Project BSI determined the extent

of the items for which samples were required . For
those materials whichwere of lim iteduseorbulkyin

naturesuchaslarge pipesandfittings, waterpumps,
motorsandpneumaticpressurevessels,etc.,nosample

submission was required . These were based upon the
submission of documents only . To my recollection
there was no issue arisi ng from the materials
submissionsmadebytheFSWPNominatedSub - contractor

via the Main Contractor.

The Project BSE also took into consideration job
references guoted by the FSWP Nominated
Sub- contractor and made reference to any material
qgualityaler tsissuedbythecentralmaterialsteams.

In so far as there might be alloys contained within

the materials submitted by the FSWP Nominated
Sub- contractor, the Project BSE checkedtherelevant
test reports, certificates and WSD's acceptance
letter as a ppropriate to ensure that the materials
complied with relevant British Standards |
International Standards whichwere acceptabletothe

WA  The Project BSE would not conduct any tests on
the materials before granting approval.

-11-

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



2015 11 27

29. Uponapproval of the mat erials or samples submitted,
the FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor was at liberty to
proceedtopurchasematerialsoftheapprovedquality.

B. Material Submissions - Fresh Water Plumbing System

outside Water Pump Rooms

30. The plumbing materials used outside wa terpumprooms
were supplied and installed by the Main Contractor
While approval of these materials was granted by the
Project Architect, the Project BSE, upon receipt of
request from the Project Architect, checked the
documentssubmittedbytheMainCon tractoragainstthe
specification requirements and design intent . The
Project BSE then offered his comments (excluding
sanitary appliances), if there were any, to the
Project Architect for his consideration in granting
approval to the submission.

C. Works Execution

31. Afterthe WAhasgivenpermissiontoproceedwiththe
water pumps and associated pipework installation

inside pumprooms, the FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor
shall execute the installation work in strict
accordancewiththeFSWPNominatedSub - contracttothe
satisfaction of the CM ) The FSWP Nominated

Sub- contractorshallalso comply withthe Waterworks
Ordinance and Regulations and to provide
notifications to the WA as required.

32. Following commencement, the Building Services Team
monitored and inspected the works of the FSWP
Nominated Sub - contractor for the water pumps and
associated pipework installation inside water pump
rooms.

33. For the works executed by the FSWP Nominated
Sub- contractor, Building Services Team conducted

inspection acco rding to the approved Project
Inspection Plan . The Project Inspection Plan
-12-
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B
detailed the inspection percentages of BS works with c
reference to the BS Site Inspection Guide . ltwas
prepared by the Building Services Team, endorsed by b
the Project BSE and appr oved by the Project SBSE
Besides functional tests, major inspection items c
included verifying that materialsinstalled were the
same as the approved materials, and that they were
installed according to the approved drawings. F
Pursuanttothe FSWP Nomin atedSub - contract,the FSWP G
Nominated Sub - contractor deployed trade tested
workers (skilled workers and semi - skilledworkers as H

defined in Section 2(1) of the Construction Workers
Registration Ordinance) to fulfil the requirements |
specifiedinthe specific ationclause PRE.BS1.460.P,

now produced and shown to me .maheked fFk
FSWPNominatedSub - contractorsubmittedthereturnof

the trade tested workers to the Main Contractor for K
submission to the CM every month in accordance with
the clause SCC13  3(b) of the Special Conditions of

Contract, now produced and shown to meL
30.
M

Solder was used primarily for joints between copper
pipework and its fittings but it did notapply to the N
water pumps and associated pipework installation
insi  de water pump rooms where ductile iron pipes and o
stainless steel pipes were used and hence there was
no risk of having leaded soldering joints. P
The role of the CBSE at this stage was, with the Q
assistanceoftheProjectSBSE,toprovidesupervision
oft heProjectBSEandBuildingServicesTeamwhowere R
to liaise with the Main Contractor in respect of BS
Nominated Sub - contract matters . Inview of my role s
overseeinganumberof BS staffwhowere delegated by
respectiveCMstomonitorvariousprojects, it wasnot .
feasible orindeed possible for me to be resident on
any one project . However, a dedicated Building
Services Team was resident on site for its duration. v
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37. Other than the pre - installation approvals of
materials referred to above, the FSWP Nominat ed
Sub- contract prescribed various tests on the water
pumps and associated pipework installation inside
waterpumproomstobecarriedoutbytheFSWPNominated
Sub- contractor upon completion . Typically these
includedthefunctionaltestandthe pressure testof
water pumps and associated pipework installation
Thesetestswerenecessarytoensuretheinstallation
metthe prescribedfunctionalperformance;butnotas
anecessaryprerequisitetogainingthe WA'sapproval
for connection of the mains supply

38. TheMainContractor'sobligationwastosupervisethe
works of the FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor to ensure
that the tests were carried out successfully and, in
theeventofdefault,tocontinuecarryingouttesting
untilsuchtimeasitcompliedwith theFSWPNominated
Sub- contract . Asthe LP was engaged and supervised
bythe FSWPNominated Sub - contractortodischargehis
dutiesundertheWaterworksOrdinanceandRegulations
for the water pumps and associated pipework inside
water pump rooms, he was not urider the direct
monitoring of the Building Services Team.

39. For the fresh water plumbing system installation
outside water pump rooms, the works monitoring was
conducted by the Building Works Team under the
supervision of the CA and is addressed by the CAin
her witness statement . lrepeatthat | experienced
no particular issue arising from the performance of
the FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor.

COMPLETION STAGE

40. Upon completion of the water pumps and associated

pipeworkinstallationinsidewater pumprooms,thelLP

engaged by the FSWP Nominated Sub - contractor,

together with the Project Architect, notified the WA

the completion of works via Form WWO 46 Part IV
-14-
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Similarly,uponcompletionofthefreshwaterplumbing

systemoutsidewaterpumprooms,t heLPengagedbythe
MainContractor,togetherwiththe ProjectArchitect,

notified the WA of the completion of works via Form
WWGa&GPartlV . Aftersatisfactoryinspection,the WA
approvedthepl umbinginstallationviaFormWwO 46Part
V. Theoveralladmi nistrationoftheapplicationfor

connection of water supplies was under the ambit of
the CA.

At the time of completion, CBSE issued a memo to the
CAconfirmingthatthe BSinstallations,inwhichthe

water pumps and associated pipework installation

in side water pump rooms under the FSWP Nominated
Sub- contract was included, could be certified as
substantiallycompletesuchthattheBSinstallations
couldbesafelyputintousefortheirintendedpurpose

This confirmation was issued upon the major BS

I nstallations satisfactorily passing the prescribed

tests and inspections . This confirmation for the
domestic blocks of KwaiLuen Estate Phase 2was dated

30 April 2014.

AlltheBSinstallationsweresubsequentlyhandedover

to Estate Management Divisi on of the Housing
Departmentaccordingtotheprescribedproceduresfor
useandoverseeingthe maintenance carriedoutbythe

BS Nominated Sub - contractors within the two- year
Maintenance Period.

DEVIATED PLUMBING MATERIALS

43.

In respect of works under my supervision and in
relation to the water pumps and associated pipework
installedbytheFSWPNominatedSub - contractorinside

water pump rooms, there was no use of plumbing
materials which deviated fromthe plumbing materials
contracted for.

RECOMMENDATIGN O PREVENT OCCURRENCE OF EXCESS LEAD IN
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44. Forwater pumps and associated pipework inside water
pump rooms, ductile iron and stainless steel pipes
with flange or other types of mechanical joints are

2015 11 27

specified to allow ease of disassembling and

rea ssembling for maintenance works
provide better strength against damages in a plant

They also

roomenvironment .  Thispracticewillcontinuouslybe

adopted in our projects in future.

45. For the design and specification of copper pipework

outside water pu mp rooms, the following mid to long

term enhancement measures can be explored:

a. adopting the use of proprietary copper pipe
fittings such as those with built -in
material or of press fit | push fit | compression
types which involve no solder; an d

b. adopting the use of pipes and fittings carrying a
i BSI Kitemar ko issued b
Institution and collaborate with stakeholders to
implement product certification for plumbing
materials in the long run as a product quality
surveillance regime.

37883 15.1 37883
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37897

FSWP nominated
subcontractor

37916 37930
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37948 37962

37980 37994
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B15.2 38616,

15.2

38616

L

38630
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-- 38632 38639 |
38620 10(d)
38625 30 35 under fiMaterial
Submissions - FreshWaterPlumbingSystemoutsideWater
Pump Roomso .
. 38620 10 d,

d. theve ttingandapprovalof plumbing materials
installed outside water pump rooms (excluding
sanitary appliances) submitted by the Main
Contractor under the Main Contract at
construction stage.

30 under fiMaterial

Submissions - FreshWaterPlumbing SystemoutsideWater
Pump Roomso,

The plumbing materials used outside water pump rooms
weresuppliedandinstalledbytheMaincontractorand
were submitted direct by the Main Contractor to the
CMforapproval. The BuildingWorks Teamcheckedthe
material submission against specification
requirements and gave recommendations to the Project
BSEforapprovalinprescribedforms. The ProjectBSE
then checked the material submission to ensure
compliance with specification requirements based on
the docume nts submitted by the Main Contractor,
including catalogues, test reports and relevant
certificates, etc. as appropriate, and approved the
material submission in prescribed forms.

The Project BSE also took into consideration job
references quoted by the Main Contractor and made
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referencetoanymaterialqualityalertsissuedbythe
central materials teams.

32. ThevettingandapprovalbytheProjectBSEofplumbing
materialsused outside water pumproomsdid notcover
sanitaryapplianceswhichwerevette dandapprovedby
the Project Architect.

33. Pursuant to the specification for copper pipes and
fittings,whensolderingalloysareusedforjointing
copper / copper alloy capillary fittings, only
lead - free category solders in compliance with BS EN
1254-1, T able 6 Sections Il and Il shall be used.

34. Insofarastheremightbesolderoralloyscontained
withinthematerialssubmittedbytheMainContractor,
the Project BSE checked the relevant test reports,

certificates and WS D6 s acceptance
appro priatetoensurethatthematerialscompliedwith
relevant British Standards / International Standards

which were  acceptable to the WA.

35. Upon approval of the materials or samples submitted,
the Main Contractor was at liberty to proceed to
purchase materi als of the approved quality.

10(d) , 30 35
nominated
subcontractor
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38640 ( ) . 38640 38654,
. ( )
. 38665 38665 38679
. 38689 38703,
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water pumps up- feedpumps booster
pumps pumps
-- specification design

samplesubmission
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-- go though witness statement
batch
even
PLU1
plumbing
works
contract admin. contract admin. .
PLU1
PLU1 .
PLU1
professional level --
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PLU1 .
. sample
submission --
sample .
L
form
L
. site supervision , Sit
inspection

siteinspection

specification
PLU1

PLU1 specification

PLU1 -- Specification Library
library
Central Team

L
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Central Team .
Central Team .
Central Team .
. specification
revision amendment
. edition
update somethinglikethat
update .
. update
BS British Standards
update
update
. 2002
revision specification .
Gl pipes _ .
Gl pipes Galvanized
iron p ipes Galvanized steel pipes

f

Galvanized steel pipes
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steelpipe
Gl pipe

steel pipes .

2002 revision
-- CentralTeam
DCManagementBoard instruction

specification
revision instruction f
revision f

revision DCMB
D&C ManagementBoard instruction .

2000 2002
specification revision
revision

L

plumbing part part .

B15.3 39600,
heading AUse of Alternative Piping

Materials for Cold Water Supply Installations in HA
Buildings 0,

alternative piping
set revisespecification
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3 background .
uPVG lined
gal vanized steel pipes .
retail shops
solderjoint
building .
solderjoint

alterna tive material

39601 7

project team

-- design
. revise specification
-- 39615,
39615 -- SUR- part
SUP -- SUP S-U-P 1.M174.N .,

AFITTINGS FOR COPPER PIPEWORKo

copper alloy fittings end feed
capillary , integral solder capillary
BS 1254 .
-28-
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B2 B2 -- 780
780

. 780
COPPER PIPES

L

compression fittings. 0

AJointpipeswithnon

fiJoint pipes with capillary fittings

2000
solder joint
solder joint f .
779 . 779
Fittings 0 2

ADo not use jointi

L

specification

2015 11 27

2000

L

AJOINTING

- manipulative

Leadbasedmaterials
fiJointingPipesand

fiLead BasedMaterials

lead 0, jointing materials
Gl galvanized steel pipes
materials
-29-
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jointing materials
galvanized steel pipes jointing
screwjoints
flange joint flange joint .
cast iron pipes .
-- cast iron pipes cast iron pipes .
Castiron pipes castironpipes . castironpipes
. 2000
s 2002
specification
2002
project project
. ADonotuse
jointing materials based onredlead 0
redlead jointing
-30-
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specification -- SUP
SUP 2002
Central Team
DCMB -- .
Do not wor ks -- use red lead
ductile iron pipes galvanized steel
pipes . flange joint
screwed joint red le ad .
red lead cast iron
pipes
castiron pipes
spec.
Okay .
solder
. solder
. 2002 B15.3
39616 .
. fiSolderingalloysforcopperand
copper alloy capillary fittings 0,
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BS standard BS 1254 (c)
AiUseonlylead - free categorysolders 0 .
solderjoint
WWR 864
864 .
update
-- 864 f

BS 1254 Part1 |

864 --
solder -- lead - free
864 .
BS1254 Table6 | Table
6 solder alloy .
Table 6 Section 2 and 3

Section 1 . table 6

footnote .

spec.
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-- Central
Team CentralTeam
lead - free BS table 6
lead - free | --
BS -- .
ArchSD 1993
- 864 BS 864
solderjoint
solder joint . .
864 1988 . 1998--
1254 1998 -- . 1988,
1998 2002
2002
88
British Standard lead solder 2002
professional
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make sure
-- BS table 6 .

background

02
P25- 02
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Okay .
lead - free
lead - free solder
f lead - free

Standard

L
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British Standard 864
solder
point .
7
solderjoint solder
Okay,

British Standard

requirement
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requirement .
Building Service

1254 (1) --
-- wall thickness 1254
temperature pressure --
nominal diameters s s
ball dimensions .
-- CBSE-
Standard -- Designand Standard D&S Central
Team CBSED &S .
wall thickness
diameters pressure .
160 150-- 150 160
specification
solder lead
brazing cadmium
cadmium lead _
involve -- --

2002 |

dimension diameters , thickness
-- composition |
solder . table 6 solder 1
2, 3 brazing 4, 5 6 .
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okay
-- solder
f L
2, 3 2, 3 --
table 6 footnote
cadmium
table 6 2, 3 footnote
i potable waters --
gas .
-- _ solder
leak -
f L
-- -- 2002 spec.

-- British Standard
ArchSD spec.

solder joint spec.
lead - free --
spec. -- Architecture
. spec.

specification
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British Standard

864 ArchSD spec. --

solder
-- spec.
British Standard
flux flux standard
PVC conduit conduit
PVC -- embed
. PVC conduit

jointing . --

incident L
-- solder product
. -
non- corrosive flu x --
solder
L
L
2002
footnote
L
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copperpipes solder
lead -- lead - free --
table 6 .
PLU1 PLU2
samplesubmission .
PLU1 contract
specification PLU1 PLU2 PLU2
. . PLU1
exception pipes bracket
valves washingmachine draw - offvalves

L

solder material

material
PLU1
PLU2
Services
construction dimension
-40-
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technical
composition technical performance sample
PLU2
PLU1
material
composition
-- PLU1 PLU2
-- -- aware
PLU1 PLU2
. . inside of flat .
-- sample
galvanised iron pipe ductile pipe
-- ductile pipe Gl pipe
solder document --
sample --
PLU1  spec
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sample
sample
sample sample
valve --
sample
solderjoint -- soldermaterial
catalogue
functional

11 31
11 49
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PLU1 PLU2
PLU2 PLU1
soldermaterial
practice
-- PLU1
sample
sample
submission
sundryitem
tying wires
tying  wires
sample submi ssion approval
involve
contractor
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sample submission
solder material
solde r material

solder solder
solder
solder
material 7
catalogue -- --

catalogue

specification
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lead - free solder
samplesubmission solder
soldermaterial
soldermaterial sample
disconnect
with high sight
solder
-- 7
DCMB instruction
incoming material
solder supervision
contractors licensed plumber
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witnessstatement
statement

WWO 46 AP AP
architect

revise
revise
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form
No.1/04
changes
fax e- mail

total

inspection

annex
update
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Q1 17

witnhess statement
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-- built -in
soldermaterial press - fit push - fit
press - fit push - fit
joint
2002 solderjoint
-- common
solderjoint compressionjoi nt solder
joint solder
joint
durable
joint
joint solder joint
integrity
joint solder
press - fit push - fit
explore --
solder -- solder
incoming
material in - process
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press - fit

1993
Architectural

Building
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MR PENNCOTT

MrLeung,lrepresentChinaState,themaincontractors
forKaiChingandHungHom. ljusthaveafewquestions

for you. Could you be taken back, please, to a
documentwe were looking at earlier, at B15.3/39600.

That's the development and cons truction board
management instruction 25/02.

Iflunderstoodthe answerto some questionsearlier,
MrLeung,in 2002 youwere asenior building services
engineer; is that right?

InanswertoaquestionfromCommissionerLai,yousaid
tha tyouwereawareofthisdocument. Isthatcorrect?

Were you actually given a copy of it?

In 2002, were you given a copy of this document?

39605 distribution
-- CBSE/1 under
CBSE/1 CBSE/1
-- e- mail
-51-
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e- mail e- mail
DCMBI e- Housing
portal folder

| see further down the page, where you see "cc" and
youtraveldownfourlines,there'sareferencetothis

doc umentbeingcopiedtoSBSE/C1landSBSE/C7. Sothat
does suggest very much, doesn't it, that you, as a
seniorbuildingservicesengineer,wouldhavehadthis
document given to you at the time?

SBSE/1 SBSE/7
cc copy

You d id receive it nonetheless?

-- instruction
tender
tender --
instruction
instruction

Okay. lfwegobacktopage39604,youwillseethat...

Sorry -- number
39604
Yes
Youwillseethattheinstructionwassignedby MrDaniel

HM Lee; do you see that?

Who was, it appears, an assistant director in the
Development Department at the time; do you see that?

Did you kno w Mr Lee?

-52.
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lunderstandheretired,hehasretiredfromtheHousing
Authority. Is that correct?

lunderstandheretiredinabout2009. Doesthataccord
with your recollection?

09 10

Okay. Thank you very much. C ould I then move on to
something slightly different. In all of your nine

witness statements, MrLeung, yousaythatyoubecame

the chief building services engineer for the nine

affected estates on 8 September 2011. Is that
correct?

That being the case for those nine affected estates,
Mr Leung, would you accept this, that you were not
personallyinvolvedinthedesignstageofanyofthose
nine projects ?

Sorry as CBSE

CBSE
design sta ge

Yes. Wouldthisberight,thatinrelationtothenine
affected estates, you were also not involved in the
tender stage of any of the projects?

statement

Would you also agree that in relation to the process
of sampling -- materials samplin g, you were also not
directlyinvolvedinthatprocess,foranyofthenine

-53-
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estates?

under direct supervision witness
statement

Can |l ask you please to look at paragraph 17 of your
witness statement in relation to Hung Hom. That's
bundle 15.2/38621.

Yousaythereatparagraphl7:"The[contractmanager's]
site inspection team conducted periodic and sample
checks on materials and workmanship for conformance
to specifications and the progress of t he main
contractor'sworks." MrLeung, you have no personal
knowledge of that, have you, so far as Hung Hom is
concerned, becauseyouweren'tthere atthetimethat
that happened?

reportto project
project

MrLeung,whenyoujoinedasCBSEtheHungHomproject,

two of the blocks had already been certified as
substantially complete, and one was two months off
being substantially complete.

Youhavenopersonalknowledgeofwhathappenedonthe
Hung Hom site at all before September 2011, do you?

-- CESE
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certify
certify

All right. Can | just take you to a different point

now. As well as the nine affected estates that you

deal with in your witness statements, am | right in
thinkingthatyouwerealsothe CBSEbetween September
2011 and July 2012 on the two estates that you don't

deal with, that is on Kai Ching and Un Chau?

IwouldliketoaskyousomequestionsaboutKaiChing.
Now, could | ask you please to be given bundle F2.
Could you please go to page 13 70.

This should be a memo from China State to two of the
projectclerks ofworks onthe Kai Ching project. Do
you see that?

It is dated 14 June 2012; do you see that?

So that's one month before you ceased to be the CBSE

for Kai Chi ng; do you understand?
-- 11 9 CBSE
11 9 CBSE 12
7 12 6 14
CBSE

| thought that's what | put to you, that this is one
month before you stopped being CBSE or ceased to be
the CBSE. Do you understand?

-55.-
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Thankyou. Thisisamemo which says: "We would like

to submit herewith the material delivery note during

the period from 1 June to 15 June 2012 ..." We see

at the foot of the page it's copied to Mr Henry Luk,
wholunderstandwasth eprojectarchitectonKaiChing.
Can you confirm that?

And also to the senior clerk of works, Mr CH Wong; do
you see that?

Andalsotothe projectquantity surveyor, Ms Cynthia
Szeto,wholunderstandworksforanoutsideconsultant,
Davis Langdon & Seah?

Althoughwenotethattheydon'tseemtohavebeen copied
withtheattachments,thatisitsays"(w/0)",without
enclosures; do you see that?

Theonlyreasonforshowingyouthis,MrLeung,isthis.
If you go over the p age, please, to page 1373 --

-- you should see a delivery note, which has caused
someinterestinthe Commissionoflnquirysofar,and
also, if you go over another couple of pages to 1375

-- youwillseeanotherdeliverynotefromProsp erity.
So those delivery notes are going to certainly two
representatives at least of the Housing Authority.

Could I ask you then just to go to page 1394.

-56-
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That'sanothermemo, slightly later, 23 June 2012; do
you see that?

What it says h ere is that what's being submitted, at
1: "Table 1: Summary of material delivery on site
checked under form 6210." And secondly: "Delivery
notes of the material which is not covered in table

1." Do you see that?

The memois copied againtothes ame people, withthe
additionofMsElaineWong,anotherprojectarchitect.

As it happens, amongst many other things, if you go
page 1415 ...

the same delivery note we were looking at just a
momentagowassentagain,andifyougotop age 1417,
you will see the other delivery note we were looking
at just a moment ago.

Whatlwantto askyou, MrLeung, isthis. Obviously

| can't ask you whether Mr Sheung and Mr Woo looked
atthesedocuments. lhavenoidea. Butcanyoutell

us, the project clerk of works having received this
memo with the attachments, what would have happened
tothem? WherewouldtheyhavegonewithintheHousing
Authority?

under supervision
contract admin
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Sothere's no setprocedure thatyou are aware of, as
a senior member of the Housing Authority, as to what
shouldhappenifmemosaregivenbycontractorstosite
staff on site?

Mr Pennicott
judiciary
MR PENNICOTT AIll right. | will leave it there. Thank

you very much.

Thankyou
Mr Chung

risk

recommendation project
compression push - fi t press - fit

strong
-- paper
Review Committee 10 6
interim report report

okay
B3. 1/38 1164
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-- 12
Estate Management
12
12
ChiefBuilding
Services Engineer
maintenance
compressionjoint
members Review
Committee risk
paper RC 29/2015
B3.2/26
screen
2 3
3
3
1,188 block
copper non- copper
soldering
151 compression 503
mechanical -- mechanical common
area 163 inflat
compressionjoint 5 sorry 5
paragraph 2388
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5
footnote 1

EstateManagement

footnotel

re - plumbing
-- re - plumbing

terms of reference

recommendation terms of reference

point board
re - plumbing press - fit

compression joint
property manager

explore recommendation
details compression

mechanical press - fit push - fit advantage

disadvantage cost  costimplications inconvenience

to residents

move on

move on
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BS 1254 table6
sense
BS 1254
solder

for human consumption

-- 864 1254

consumption

human consumption

solderjoint

human consumption

put
02
strict
BritishStandard
-- straight forward

footnote

solder
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context
risk
in general common

touch
864

for human

solder

for
solder joint

rules guidebook

British Standard
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strict

8 DCMB
instruction

specification library
B15.1/337

B15.1/337 B15.1/337 Page number 37590

distribution chief
building servicesengineer 1 2
1
Okay
goto detail
annex 3 annex 3 37615
37615 budget estimate
building contract additional
cost material
testing
block
incur cost
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tes t

footnote 37615
AEsti mates for budgeting purpose are
to new building contracts to be tendered, ie not

applicable to post - contract variation works . 0
witness statement buildi ng service
contract manager delegate contract

manager  representative

Inquiry
post - contract contract
manager GCC instruction
additional work

variation --

variation work order testing

-- notel
-- cost applicable to
post - contract variation

page 137615
tender
price post - contract
var iation
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...... -- range
topic topic
HKIE professional body
going into deta il
commonsense
ul.3
6
task force task force
HKIE disciplines
building services engineer
9
bundle report
bundleU1.3 page number
paginated 9
2 5 6 -- 6 7
task force
services engineer
Services Division CharteredInstitu
-64-

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited

report

report

building
Building
tionof



2015 11 27

Building Services Engineers

Australian Canadian UK Chapter
go to
gotopage3l COl 31 page number
24
2002
alternative
solder joint
96
conceal
ingeneral
96
96 conceal
concern
silver brazing
96-- 98 98
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comfortable

silver brazing 99 si Iver brazing
equipment tin
solder solder
200 98
96
developers silver brazing
centralteam 02
solder
joint brazing
solder
brazing brazing
solder
99 400 450°C
800°C
concern
-- brazing
1254 table 6
solder brazing brazing
cadmium cadmium
cadmium
with hindsight either
solder brazing
brazing brazing
brazing
oxygen potassium
energy attend 800°C
joint gas
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lead
cadmium
cadmium
financial year
financial year
okay
okay
soldering joints compression joints soldering
joints
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compression joint soldering
joint

joint
compression joint

compression joint
solder joint sol derjoint

compression joint
initially
run
(water hammer)
waterhammer
compression joint

soldering
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press - fit
Push - fit

push - fit

silver brazing
joints solder joints
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solder joints

2000
B2 specification 779 redlead
red lead
page
779
779
cast iron pipe
health

okay okay --
soldering joints construction industry
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context local

2002
health
concern aware

-- iron pipes

developer

central team
concern
solder joint

2002 contractor
concern
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concern

statement -
sample room

statement

statement
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statement
statement

site demonstration

Okay

Mr Ho -- Mr Hui

-73-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



2015 11 27

Mr Li

parties

you mean
contractors
Mr Khaw
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ready
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Chairman

CEO
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CEO Chairman

MR PENNICOTT Mr Chairman, can | make my usual Friday

request forin f ormation. I made the same point last
Friday. Couldwe betoldwhatthe latestpositionis
onProfBellinger O0sr eport,andcouldwepl easebetold

whatthelatestpositionisonwhetherornotaplumbing
expert is to be called?

Can | also make this enquiry from the Housing
Authority: we understood that Mr TT Cheung, chairman

oftheReviewCommittee,i stobecalled. Wewondered
what the Housing Autho rity 6s position was on that.
Prof Bellinger report
12 plumbing expert
report
-77 -
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Mr Khaw
EMD department estate
management
10
chairman
contractors -- contractor
Contractors subcontractors plumbers
Contractor plumber
Contractor plumber
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Salmon lett ers

contractors

contractors plumbers

2015 11 27
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Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneberpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

Friday, 27 November 2015

(10.02 am)
(Transcript of simultaneous interpretation
except where otherwise specified)

CHAIRMAN: The next witness, please.

MR HO: The next witness is Mr Leung Chi Kwong, Eric.

MR ERIC LEUNG CHI KWONG (affirmed)
CHAIRMAN: Please take a seat, Mr Leung.
Examination -in - chief by MR HO

MR HO: Chairman, Mr Leung has nine witness statements. The

first five, other than the di fference in the names of

the estate and the workers, the number of workers, and
also the nominated subcontractors, the names would be
different there.

| propose that | read out one of them, and that
would be enough to cove r first five housing estates.
Other than some of the minor details, the versions are
basically the same. For the remaining four, there are
some differences, so | will be reading out the
differences. So, for the remaining four, tho
be reading out the statements one by one, like fire
services subcontractors, there will be differences.

The first one | would like to read out is Kwai Luen
Estate Phase 2. That's at page 37851, in B15.1.

(Paragraphs 1 to 45 were read in English)

-1-
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Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

Let me try it like this. Mr Leung, | read out the

witness statement, your witness statement, in relation
to Kwai Luen Estate Phase 2. Do you have any
amendments?

A. No.

Q. Would  you adopt this statement as your witness statement
for the hearing?

A. Yes.

Q. The witness statements similar to this version, there
are five copies, and | would like you to have a look at
page 37883, also 15.1.

A. Yes.

Q. Th rough to page 37897.

A. Yes.

Q. And the three annexes. Have you got that?

A. Yes.

Q. Don't just nod your head. You have to say, "yes".

A. Yes, | do.

Q. This is in relation to Wing Cheong Estate, your witness
statement. Would you confirm this as a true statement?

A. Yes.

Q. Other than the names, the dates, the FSWPs and nominated
subcontractors' names -- other than those details, in
relation to Wing Cheong Estate, basically this version

is similar or basical ly the same as the previous version

-2
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Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 17

that | read out?

A. Yes.

Q. For this Wing Cheong Estate witness statement, would you
submit this to the Commission as your witness statement?

A. Yes.

Q. Also, page 37916 through to page 37930, an d the three
annexes attached?

A. Yes, I've got it.

Q. This is your witness statement in relation to Lower

Ngau Tau Kok Estate Phase 1.

A. Yes.
Q. This statement is essentially the same -- with the
exception of some of the date s, this is the same as the

Kwai Luen Estate statement.

A. Yes.

Q. Would you confirm that this is a true statement?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you submit this as your witness statement to the
Commission?

A. Yes.

Q. Moving on to page 3794 8. This is Mr Leung's witness
statement for Shek Kip Mei Estate Phase 2, through
to 37962.

A. Yes, I've got it.

Q. Again, there are three annexes?

-3-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneberpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

A. Yes.

Q. Again, with the exception of some of the dates that are
different, would you confirm that this statement is
a true statement?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. Would you submit this statement as your witness
statement for this hearing?

A. Yes.

Q. Thank you. Moving on to Tung Wui Estate, page 37980
throught o page 37994.

A. Yes, I've got it.

Q. Again, there are three annexes?

A. Yes.

Q. Once again, this is your statement for Tung Wui Estate.
Other than the dates and the names that are different
from the previous version for Kwai Luen E state, it is
basically the same?

A. Correct.

Q. Would you accept that this is a true statement?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you be prepared to submit this statement to the
Commission as your evidence?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. All right. Please move on to the other four statements.

The first one is bundle B15.2, page 38616.

-4-
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A. Sorry, | didn't get it.
Q. Bundle B15.2, page 38616.
A. Yes, I've got it.
Q. This is your witness statement for Hung Hom Estate
Phase 2?
A. Yes.
Q. Your statement goes on to page 38630; can you see that?
A. Yes.
Q. Again, there are three annexes?
A. Correct.
Q. Page 38632 to 38639.
A. Yes.
Q. There is a bit of difference to the Kwai Luen Estate
statement, in that on page 38620,10d -- I'mgoing to
read that out in a moment -- and page 38625,
paragraph 30 to paragraph 35, "Material submissions -
fresh water plumbing system outside water pump rooms" -
those are the paragraphs that are different?
A. Yes, correct.
Q. Let me read out the paragraphs that are different, for
the record. Page 38620, paragraph 10d:
"(In English) the vetting and approval of plumbing
materials installed outside water pump rooms (excluding
sanitary appliances) submitted by the main contractor

under the main contract at construction stage."
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Also, paragraph 30. These are under "Material
submissions  -- fresh water plumbing system outside water
pump rooms".

(Paragraphs 30 to 35 were read in English)

Other than 10d and paragraphs 30 to 35 being
different from the Kwai Luen Estate witness statement,
and other than the difference in names and dates and the
nominated subcontractors' n ames -- other than those that
are different, essentially this statement is the same as
the Kwai Luen one. Would you confirm that this is
a true statement?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you prepared to submit this witness evidence to the
hearing, to the Commission, as evidence?

A. Yes.

Q. There are four witness statements for this category. We
are done with Hung Hom Estate.

Please refer to page 38640 for Yan On Estate. This
takes us through to page 38654.

A. Y es, l'vegotit.

Q. There are three annexes attached. This is the witness
statement for Yan On Estate. Would you confirm that
this is a true statement?

A. Yes, | can confirm that.

Q. Are you prepared to submit this to the Commission as

-6-
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evidence?
A. Yes.
Q. Thank you.

Page 38665, Choi Fook Estate. Your witness
statement runs from page 38665 to page 38679; do you see
that?

A. Yes.

Q. Again, there are three annexes?

A. Correct.

Q. Doyouco nfirm that this witness statement is a true
witness statement?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. Are you prepared to submit this witness statement to the
Commission?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. Then from page 38689 to page 38703, that's for Ching Ho
Esta te Phase 1; do you see that?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. Again, there are three annexes?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you confirm that this is a true witness statement?
Do you confirm that?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. And you will submit this witness statement to t he

Commission; is that right?
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A. Yes.

Q. Do you have anything to add on top of these nine pieces
of witness statements?

A. No supplement and no revision.

MR HO: Chairman, | don't have any further questions.

Cross - examination by MR KHAW

MR KHAW: Mr Leung, you are the CBSE. | would like to

clarify with you in relation to your responsibilities.

From your witness statement, you said, in relation
to plumbing works, including up - feed pumps, boos
pumps, inside the pump rooms and also plumbing works,
you are responsible for coming up with the design and
specifications; right?

A. Well, the entire plumbing system is being undertaken by
the BS team.

Q. Now, in relation to sample submission and the approval
of sample, | know that your team will take part in the
work for the entire plumbing system, apart from the
sanitaryware?

A. Yes and no. As | said in my witness statement, for the
first five projects, the team, in relation to approval
of samples, we were working on the materials in relation
to the FSWP nominated subcontract. But for plumbing
works outside the pump rooms, that is the responsibility

of the architect's t eam. But for the last four estates,
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Hung Hom Estate Phase 2, Yan On Estate, Choi Fook Estate
and Ching Ho Estate Phase 1, apart from the materials
used for the pump rooms, for materials outside the pump
room, as long as they are w ithin PLU1 then the BS team
is approving those materials as well.
Q. Why is there such a difference?
A. In the past, the architect's team used to be the party
which is doing the contract admin, including approving
the materials, but for these four other projects, at
that time the architect's team discussed with the BS
team and the architect's team said that they would like
to seek help from us to also take on the responsibility
of looking at items, materials u nder PLU1. And the BS
team was willing to do that. We were prepared to work
extra - hard to accommodate that.
So, at that time, for these four projects, the BS
team was also responsible for approving the items under
PLU1 u nder these four projects.
Q. You said that the BS team was responsible for the
approval for the other four projects. Is it because
there were issues with manpower deployment or there were
some special characteristics in relation to th ese four
projects that warranted the BS team's involvement?
A. Well, there is no sort of set pattern of doing it or

established procedure. For PLU1 specifications, the BS
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team was responsible for writing up the specifications.
That's why the architect's team had that request. Then
my several colleagues said they were willing to go the
extra mile to accommodate that. So, for these other
four projects, we were responsible for approving the
material submis sion under PLUL.

Q. And documents would be checked when you did the

approval, and you would also be checking on the samples.

Am | right in saying that the BS team was directly
responsible for approving the materials, and then it
would be your team, the BS team, who signed off the
documents? But then, if you were not responsible for
approving the materials, just like the former five

projects, you were just giving advice, so the one who

signed the form would be someone from the architect's

team; is that right?
A. Yes, absolutely correct.
Q. Now | would like to look at the site supervision and

site assessment. In your witness statement, you have

made it very clear that in relation to w ater pumps

works, your team would be the ones directly supervising
the progress of works and whether the works were in
order.

A. Yes.

Q. In relation to works outside the water pump rooms, you
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were not involved in the site ins pection works?
A. Yes.
Q. Now I would like to take you through the formulation of
the specifications, especially PLUL. | would like to
ask, Mr Leung, you were part of the team, were you
involved in the compilation of specification PLUL1?
A. PLUL is part of the Specification Library, and for this
library, there was a dedicated team working on it. This
is what we call the central team, which was working on
it. 1 was not involved in the work of the central team.
Q. Yes, | understand. But then, for the specifications, if
the revision is required and then it is required - we
know there is major revision once every four years, and
earlier another chief building services engineer, Mr Ng,
to Id us that there might be some minor revisions once
every half - year. Is this the usual practice?
A. Yes. There would be a new edition issued once every
year, then major updates once every two years, and then
minor revisions once ever y six months, if needed.
Q. Now, if minor updates are required, say, in a half - year
interval -- | know there might be some updating of
British Standards, so you might have to do revisions --
now, apart from such standards, internationa | standards
which might have been revised and you have to update

your specs accordingly -- apart from those, would you be
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updating them considering other factors?

A. We would also be looking at the actual operation of the
site a nd also whether there are any changes of materials
in the market, and then revise the specs accordingly.
But then, usually, we would consult the trade before we
do that.

Q. All right. In 2002, Mr Ng actually gave us a revision
on specifications in 2002, and we know that at that time
the trade and the HA were encouraging the main
contractors to use copper pipes. Actually, there was
a choice for the main contractors, as to whether they
can use Gl pipes or ¢ opper pipes.

On the subject of Gl pipes and galvanised pipes
well, are galvanised iron pipes the same as galvanised
steel pipes?

A. The official name should be galvanised steel pipes.

They are actually steel pipes.

Q.1 would also like to ask: in 2002, there was a revision,

revised version issued, and the central team was issuing
it. There was a DC Management Board Instruction.
I would like to know whenever specification revisions
were issued, wa s there something similar issued, the
DCMB instruction, for reference by the relevant parties?

A. Well, especially for major revisions, that must go

through the DCMB, before the instruction could be

-12-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited

Day 17



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneberpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

issued.
Q. Now, from 2000 up to now, there was a revision of
specifications in 2002. Was that exercise considered
a major one?
A. In relation to plumbing works, yes, | believe so.
Q. Okay. Let's look at the document itself. B15.3,
page 39600. The heading, "(In English) Use of
alternative piping materials for cold water supply
installations in HA buildings" -- canyou see that?
A. Yes.
Q. You agree that, at that time, you were encouraging the
trade to use alternative pipings, so that's wh y you
thought that there was a need to revise the
specifications?
A. To put it more accurately, can we look at paragraph 3
which has a little bit of background? At that time, we
were using uPVC - lined galvanised steel pipes, but then,
for this kind of pipe, the relevant parts could not be
purchased at retail shops, and some households might
change their pipes after they move into the flats and
it's difficult for them to buy such pipes in the market.
So instead they will use copper pipes.
Then, at that time, copper pipes with solder joints
were widely used in the market at that time. So because

of this consideration, there was such a revision, so we

-13-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited

Day 17



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneberpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

are offering another opt ion of copper pipings with
solder joints as an alternative which could be used by
main contractors.
Q. Let's look at the next page, paragraph 7. It also sets
out that because of this choice of alternative piping
materials, it is said that the project team will prepare
different designs; is that right?
A. Yes.
Q. Let us compare the revised specification to the original
ones. | can see that -- well, let's turn to page 39615.
A. Yes, | can see that.
Q. Page 39615, the last part, SUP 1.M174.N, "Fittings for
copper pipework", and it sets out:
"(In English) ... copper alloy fittings ... end feed
capillary, integral solder capillary ..."
Et cetera. And BS EN 1254 was also mentione d.
So let's do a comparison with the 2000 version.
That version is in B2. Let's look at page 780.
A. Yes, | can see that.
Q. On this page, "Jointing copper pipes" -~ canyou see
that, in the middle?
"(In English) Join t pipes with non - manipulative
compression fittings.
Joint pipes with capillary fittings."

In the year 2000, the specifications did not contain
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any mention of solder joints because they were not

used -- copper pipeswe re not used?
A. Yes.
Q. Lead - based materials -- let's have a look at page 779.

"Jointing pipes and fittings", the second part of it,
"Lead - based materials".

A. Yes, I've got it.

Q. "(In English) Do not use jointing materials based o
lead."

Jointing materials here are in relation to the
Gl pipes?

A. No.

Q. What sort of jointing materials are we talking about?

A. For galvanised steel pipes -- sorry, there are only two
types. One is screw joint s, the other one is flange
joint. 1 think we are talking about cast iron pipes
here.

Q. Yes, cast iron pipes.

A. Cast iron pipes would not be used for potable water; it
would be used for drainage.

Q. In the year 2000, there were no specifications for
copper pipes, so in that year, since quite a lot of
copper pipes would be used, and hence this
specification?

A. Yes.
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Q. Other than these changes in the specifications, there
was quite a major change fo I more copper pipes to be
used. Do you remember, with regard to this change,
whether the Housing Department has conducted any
assessment on the implications on human health?

CHAIRMAN: What was your post?

A. | was the senior BSE.

CHAIRMAN: Were you involved in this work?

A. | was responsible for specific projects.

COMMISSIONER LAI: Let me put a question. | am reading
this:

"(In English) Do not use jointing materials based on
red lead."

Whati s your interpretation? Why is it that
jointing materials based on red lead should not be
used -- whatis your understanding?

A. This SUP was drafted by the architect's team. In 2002,
the central team of the BS discipline published or
promulgated this PI. We added the specifications for
copper pipes. So Mr Lai, and the chairman, the question
you put, "Do not use jointing materials based on red
lead", that was drafted by the architect's team. For
drinkin g water, we used DI pipes or Gl pipes. For these
two types we used flange joints. We didn't use red lead

at all. | heard that red lead was only used for cast
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iron pipes for drainage purposes.
COMMISSIONER LAI: At that time, was the re an understanding
that for connecting pipes, even cast iron pipes,
materials containing lead should not be used?
A. That I'm not sure. These specifications are revised
time and again, so we were only executing the
guidelines. | don't understand, | don't know about the
rationale behind it.

As regards copper pipes and the solder, there was
the British Standard requirements that leaded solders
should not be used for jointing pipes for drinking
water.

MR KHAW: Let's have a look at 2002, B15.3, page 39616.
A. Yes, I've got it.
Q. In the middle, "(In English) Soldering alloys for copper

and copper alloy capillary fittings". We have read them

many times. The first one is BS 1254 ,andin (c)itis
specified, "(In English) Use only lead - free category
solders".

Am | right in saying this: your team at that time,
because of these changes in the market that more copper
pipes would be used, you understo od that for solder
joints, jointing copper pipes, lead - free category solder
should be used?

A. Yes, we are clear about that. We all go by the WWO.
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The WWO provides that we have to follow the UK standard.
In the WWR, it is stipu lated that we follow 864
standard.

When our team updated the specifications, they had
regard to the fact that 864 was no longer applicable, so
the new standard was BS 1254 part |. But in 864, it was
clearly stipulated tha t for drinking water, the solder
must be lead - free. There was such a standard in 864.

It is BS 1254, it is in fact in table 6. For solder
alloy, there are three types. If you look at table 6,
sections 2 and 3 are lead - free. Section 1 is leaded.
Under table 6, there is a footnote that says that for
potable water, it should be lead - free.

My understanding is that this is reflected in the
specifications and it is a prudent approach, it was
a prud ent approach. Because the contractors and myself
are not on the central team. If we look at the
specifications, it is less likely to fall apart because
it is likely to have some omissions if it is not
specified lead - free, because we have to go back to the
BS before we know the specifications. Colleagues are
very busy; they cover so many different areas. If they
do not follow the BS and if they fall down on the job,
then there will be problems.

So, in these specifications, it is a prudent
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approach, it is a pragmatic approach, to make it
sufficiently clear. If you look at the ASD 1993

specifications, they use 864 at the time, BS 864 but it

is made very clear that for solder joints, for copper
pipes, we have to use lead - free category.
Q. Right.

CHAIRMAN: Let me get a question in here. It was
sufficiently clear -- 864, it was 1998, it was
stipulated that in 1998, 1254, basically they are the
same -- this is a repetition.
From 1998 and 2002, you introduced copper pipes. In
other words, despite the fact that you introduced copper
pipes in 2002, but from the evidence we heard the copper
pipes have been around for some con siderable time.
A. Yes.
CHAIRMAN: Would you agree that since the British Standard
in 1988, it stipulates that no leaded solder should be
used.
From that time to 2002, if you used or if you
installed the copper pipes in the private sector, it was
very clear that lead - free solder should be used, and
that was a common understanding on the part of the
plumbers; is that right?
A. | agree with you on that, Chairman. These

specifications are there for t he professionals and also
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for the frontline workers, and they are also meant for
the contractors. So the way it is drafted is to make
sure that people don't have to go back to the BS table
and they should be aware of the requireme nts.
CHAIRMAN: So, for BSE, building services engineers,
discipline -- we know there are so many different
disciplines in building works, but as far as BSE
discipline is concerned, there was no ambiguity at all
that for piping wo rk for drinking water, lead - free
solder has to be used, and there was no controversy,
there was no misunderstanding; everything was very
clear. Is that correct?
A. If they refer to the specifications, it would be clear.
CHAIRMAN: What if they don't refer to the specifications?
A. Well, the BS discipline covers a broad spectrum of
things. Water is of a minor, of a small category. They
may come from many different areas. They may be
familiar with electrical wor k but not water, or the
other way around, and they may be familiar with water
but not so much with electricity. But this is drafted
because they want to make sure that everybody would be
on the same page.
COMMISSIONER LAI: Mr Le ung, in 2002, with this P25 - 02, you
were the senior building services engineer and you knew

about this document, didn't you?
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A. Yes.

COMMISSIONER LAI: For other engineers, presumably they
would also have access to this document?

A. Yes.

COMMISSIONER LAI: Do you think, back in 2002, with these
guidelines being promulgated in your department, for the
BSE, for instance, were there any discussions of this
particular document?

A. Not that | recollect. We used copper pipes starting
from 2002 in Hong Kong. It started in the 1980s. It is
a common approach, to use copper pipes.

MR KHAW: Chairman, | lost track of my questioning.

CHAIRMAN: Yes.

MR KHAW: You said it was very clear and it was a p rudent
approach to specify lead - free solder. | am not sure
whether you agree with me on this. As far as you are
concerned or your team is concerned, the BS team, to use
lead - free solder, it is intended to make sure that lead
might compromise the water quality. Are you aware of
that?

A. Common sense would tell us that lead is harmful to human
health. That much | know. | am sure that my team --
| presume my team is aware of that, because this is
COmmon sense.

We understand that central team drafted the
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specifications this way, and this was derived from the
British Standard because under the WWO, we have to
follow the British Standard, and 864 also has
specification s. For prudent reasons, they put it in the
specifications.

If the solder contains lead, we are not sure, we
didn't know that it would cause lead to be present in
the water. We didn't know the implications of lead in
the water on human health, until July this year, after
the revelation of the lead incident.

CHAIRMAN: Can you say that again? You know that lead is
harmful. What is the next thing to say?

A. Yes. We know, | know at least, lead is harmful.

a solder joint is used for copper pipes and if the

solder is lead - containing, and there is a risk that it
might affect the water, we're not aware of the risk

there.

CHAIRMAN: Hang on a second. You said you didn't know that
if leaded solder is used, you don't know how it would
impact on the water?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: But if the British Standards set out

categorically that solder materials should be lead

then one plus one, you can easily derive that it might

be harmful.
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A. Well, these international standards were drawn up by
a number of experts over the years, and for whatever
standards they put, they would not give the reasons
behind. They just set out the requireme nt, that's it.
So, for the building services sector, there are so
many applicable international standards.
CHAIRMAN: | understand that. | know that there are many
different standards. | will just be more focused in my
quest ion. In 1254 part I, many requirements are
stipulated. As | said earlier, wall thickness is one
item, and also temperature, pressure -- SO many items
are included -- diameters, and so on. So many items are
included. Dimensions o f ball valves, and so on.
The central team is in the D&S section. Well, they
didn't put down a lot. They didn't mention about
diameter, wall thickness and pressure.
160, 150 -- well, I was referring to your
specifica  tions. They were silent on many things. But
then there is one item which was highlighted, and that
is there should be lead - free solder used and there
should not be any cadmium in brazing materials. Do you
get that?
A. Yes.
CHAIRMAN: Of course, | respect your witness statement and

your evidence saying that you were not aware of this.
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But my question really is: now, this cadmium is not
allowed in this and lead not allowed in solders, so it
goes without saying that there must be problems with
these materials, or else you wouldn't have that kind of
requirement.

A. 1 was not involved in the 2002 revision exercise. But
then you mentioned about dimensions, diameters,
thickness, an d so on and so forth. There are really
consistent standards. Well, there are three types of
solders in table 6, instead 1, 2, 3, and then for
brazing there are types 4, 5 and 6.

So the way it is worded here is appropriate and

prudent.

CHAIRMAN: | fully agree with you. Now, they extract this
particular item out and then put it in here; | don't
have any problem with that. But my question is: you are
highlighting this for what?

A. As | said, there a re three types of solders, though they
put it clearly that it's types 2 and 3, and also they
include the footnote of table 6, which sets out the
restrictions on the lead and cadmium. | am not very
sure, but my guess is they might n ot be very certain
about the rationale behind.

CHAIRMAN: Now, table 6, sections 2 and 3, there is

a footnote saying that potable water, for potable water,
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lead - free solders should be used for the pipes. We know
that copper pipe s can be used for many purposes: they
can be used for transmission of gas and for
accommodating oil, and so on.
If you add all these points or reasons together,
would you agree that though it is not categorically said
that lead may leach into the water, but then, if you add
in all these factors, numbers 1, 2 and 3, then you would
be able to arrive at a conclusion?

A. When the team did the 2002 revision, | think they were
referring to the British Standar ds and also the Arch SD
specs. For government specifications, it is also said
thatlead - free solders should be used.

CHAIRMAN: You talk about the Architectural Services
Department; correct?

A. Yes. When we work on specifications, usually we will
take reference from similar specifications of other
government departments. So my guess is at that time the
colleagues had taken a look at the British Standards,
they also took reference from 864, and also the
Architectural Services Department's specifications. So
| believe these are the reasons for writing that in, and
that might not have anything to do with their awareness
that leaded solders might lead to lead in water and then

that would be hazardous to health.
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CHAIRMAN: | will pose a question to the relevant colleague
who worked on it at that time. My suspicion is that

they were not just looking at the government departments

Day 17

and specifications on the British S tandards. Why | said

so, because in item (d) there was mentioning of flux.

This was not mentioned by anybody else. It was not

mentioned in any other standards and that was added in.
A. Chairman, we did have some hard lessons to learn

past. In the 1980s, we started using PVC conduits,

which is like copper pipes but made of PVC. It was

embedded in the concrete and then it was used for

accommodating the electrical cables, and then the PVC

conduits w  ere adhered together by glue. But then some

unscrupulous main contractors were not using the

proprietary glue to connect the conduits and there were

problems with that. | don't know whether it's because

that experience was very vi vid to colleague who worked

on this specification, that's why the flux was also

mentioned here.

Now, the same manufacturer might be producing copper
pipes, flux, solders and so on; it would supply all the
products you need ed. So, on this document, the
non - corrosive type of flux was also mentioned. So
| would say that the colleague was very comprehensive in

his job in drawing up the specifications, but that might
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not have anything to do with his aw areness of whether
leaded solders might lead to lead in drinking water and
then might be hazardous to health.
MR KHAW: Thank you. | would like to ask a question about
awareness. In 2002 -- well, as you said just now, the
footno te was written out clearly in the specifications.
Do you know, in relation to solder used in copper pipes,
there were different types of leaded and lead - free?
A. Of course | know about it. That was set out in table 6.
Q. Can I move now o n to another subject, in relation to
sample submission under PLU1 and PLU2. Many witnesses
have told us that if we go by PLUZ2 in the contract --

the difference between the two is that for PLU2, samples

of materials have to be submi tted. For PLU1L, apart from
several exceptions, like valves, draw - off valves of
washing machines -- apart from these items, generally

speaking, documentary check should suffice. But then,
based on needs also, and also the actual si tuation,
samples might have also to be submitted.
Now, for soldering materials in particular, you
might get the opportunity to really look at the samples
themselves. So | would like to ask you this. Mr Ng
Tat Kwan, in hi s witness statement, said that at the
central level the HA might issue guidelines on what PLU1

want items to be where samples should be submitted by
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the main contractors; are you aware of that?
A. | haven't seen such documents. Now, concerning the
difference between PLU 1 and PLU2, as what you said,
Mr Khaw, for PLUZ2 items, samples are required, but for
PLU1, we would go mainly by documentary check.

Well, there are so many materials to be approved by
the BS team apart from PLU1 items. For the materials to
be approved by the BS, most of them come with documents
only and not samples.

Now, why are documents so important? That would
include the catalogues of the products. The catalogues
would set out all the specifications and materials,
composition, construction, dimension and also the
British Standards that they are complying with; and then
also test reports showing that the materials comply with
the international standards; and also the approved
documents of the regulatory bodies, for example,
plumbing works, then the WSD's approval documents have
to be submitted as well.

So at least these three types of documents hav eto
be submitted. Why do we have to check the documents?
Because we have to look at the technical composition and
technical performance. If you just look at the samples,
you would not be able to tell the functions. You can

only look at the appearance, the coloration and the
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texture of the components.

For PLU2 items, these are the things that we have to
look at, by us and also the architect's team. For
example, the wash basins, the WC closets, a nd so on.

For PLU1, only documents have to be checked, whilst
the pressure the materials can withstand, the material
composition and things like those will have to be
checked through the documents. | mean, it isn't able
we can't check those characteristics through samples.

So, looking at the different items, at the PLU1 and
PLUZ2, | was not aware of any documents at the corporate
level which tells categorically the difference. But if
material s are used within a household, the common
areas -- inside the flat in the common areas, we would
normally look at the samples too, and the appearance
well, especially the architect's team, they are
attaching a lot of importance t o the design, the
coloration, and so on, apart from water pipes,
of course.

If we talk about copper pipes, they all look the
same. Galvanised pipes are similar in colour; ductile
iron pipes have deep colours, and so on. So this is the
only difference among the different types of pipes.

Generally speaking, when we approve the soldering

materials, the main contractors -- apart from submitting
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the documents, we will also submit the samples and th
main contractor, as a usual practice, will also submit
samples of materials, including soldering materials.
The PLUL specification is drawn up by the BS team,
and the way it was written was in line with the approach
adop ted by the BS team in checking the materials.
We seldom look at samples, apart, say, from
lighting, because lighting can be seen by everyone so we
have to look at the experience; the sockets of lights;
and also the items in the household which can be seen by
everyone. So we will look at the samples of these.
But then for, say, large - scale pipes and water
pumps, then we would not look at samples. In any case,
it is impossible really to submit samples. We think
that documents should suffice.
The documents come with photos. Even if the main
contractors don't give us the samples of the solder
materials, the catalogue is in colour; we can see what
the actual stuff really is, and that would be sufficient
for us to have the record.
CHAIRMAN: So, for functional stuff, there is no need for
samples? Things that have to do with the outlook.
A. There is a difference there.
(11.32 am)

(A short adjournment)
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(11.50 am)

CHAIRMAN: Please continue.

MR KHAW: Before the break, you were giving us details about
PLU1 and PLU2 and whether samples were required.

So, in summary, for PLU2 items, you have to look at
the sam ples, and for PLU1, the items are the functional
items, so you will look at the documents and that should
be sufficient.

For soldering materials, as a usual practice, the
main contractors are still submitting samples of
soldering materials for your checking. We know that
this is the kind of practice all along.

A. As we know, for PLUL, no sample is required for
soldering material, but then the main contractors, as
I mentioned, will be submitting the maj ority of the
materials for the architect's team for approval. So, as
a matter of practice, they also include samples of
soldering materials in their load of materials
submitted, and the architect's team and also the BS
team, upon receipt of such soldering material samples,
will also take a look as well.
Q. In relation to the samples of materials submitted, you

and the architect's team will decide whether there was

a need to check the samples. | think it h as to do with

the nature of the materials; right? As we heard some
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other witnesses, soldering materials is considered
a sundry item. It's just like small hardware parts,
such as like screws, bolts and nuts and also tying
wi res.
Am | correct in saying this: for screws, tying wires

and bolts and nuts, you don't think there is a need for
sample submission and approval; is that right?

A. The parts that you talk about are construction
materials. BS team is not involved in those parts. But
| am a member of the trade and | would say that for
small parts like those, | don't think the main
contractors would submit samples and we won't require
them to submit samples either, becau se they are
insignificant.

Q. Now, with regard to sample submission, the HA and the
trade would consider soldering materials similar to

these small hardware, or you think that they are not

similar and that there is a need for sam ple submission

for soldering materials?
A. Well, according to the specifications, documents have to
be submitted for approval. Now, we are discussing
whether samples are needed. That's not required on
paper. But then, as a pra ctice, main contractors would
submit the samples. Our approach is that we will look

at them when they are submitted, but then we will not
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require that they should submit the samples as
a mandatory practice.
Q. Before July this year, before the lead in water
incident, in relation to tin wires and tin strips -~ you
know that there are these two materials?
A. Before the incident, we have not heard about these
materials. Well, going by their names, we can't tel I
the distinction. We only know about lead - free solders
and leaded solders, and for our fresh water plumbing
works, lead - free solders should be used.
Q. For materials submitted or solder materials used
on site, before July this year have you actually seen
such materials yourself, how they look?
A. | have seen such materials in the catalogue. My
position is a CBSE now, and the frontline staff,
including the engineers and also site resident staff,
wills  ee these materials. These materials are seldom
submitted to me. But then | have seen the relevant
catalogues.
Q. So you haven't seen the actual materials?
A. Well, until the incident. Then | was shown the
materials by colleagues.
Q. Just now, we mentioned about the specifications, about
lead - free category solders, and there was sample

submission of solder materials. But from the withess

-33-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneberpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

statements of other witnesses, during the course of
construction, when soldering materials were delivered
and when they were installed, those would not be tested;
right? | understand that this is not part of your
responsibility. It would be the architect's team who
would be determining whether t ests should be conducted
on such materials?

A. Correct.

Q. And there are clear specifications on soldering
materials, that they should be lead - free. You have
checked the samples of soldering materials. But
ultimately, when t he materials were delivered, there was
no further checking. So do you think that there is
a sort of disconnection within the system, among these
different procedures?

A. With hindsight, the incident has been extensively
reported in the media, and it seems that we lack
awareness of the impact or implications of leaded
solders. So, before July, the architect's team haven't
put in place stringent checking procedures, for checking
materials upon their deliver y on site. | am sure some
colleagues have also told you as witnesses that after
July, the DCMB has issued new instructions, and we have
strengthened our procedures on checking incoming

materials, including solders, we have stepped up the
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supervision.
Q. I would also like to ask -- some contractors and

licensed plumbers have given us witness statements
saying that they have seen plumbers have done
demonstrations within the sample rooms on soldering of
pipeworks. Have you seen such demonstrations?
CHAIRMAN: Please try to separate your questions into two.
MR KHAW: First of all, have you seen plumbers on site
somewhere did soldering works on pipes?
A. No.
Q. And have you heard other pe ople saying that some
plumbers have demonstrated such works in the site?
A. Not before July, but then recently | have heard that
some witnesses have said in their statement that there
were such things being done, and | have heard from my
colleagues that this was being done.
Q. All right. The last question, perhaps, here. With the
application to the WSD in relation to WWO form 46, the
AP and the licensed plumber should sign a document --
and the HA is the arc hitect, who is the AP -- when they
use certain plumbing materials, they should submit
a list of the plumbing materials to be used to the WSD.
In the course of construction, the LP might have
used materials which are different fr om those first

submitted to the WSD, and the LP must update their
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records with the WSD and submit a revised checklist?
A. Yes.
Q. Now, if this happens, would the LP first notify someone
in the HD that they have revised the material sto be
used? Would they do that?
A. Well, they are not required to do so, | believe. My
approach is this. After they have been awarded the
tender and before the plumbing works started, they have
to submit WWOA46 part |. The | ist of materials has to be
submitted for our approval. There are many items in the
list, and the submission may not be done within a short
time. They have been working on previous projects with
us, so they have a certain fixed lis t of materials, or
what you call a wish list, which should be included in
annex 1 of WWOA46 part |. They do have their own list.
There may be 20 items on the list. They may have given
us 10 for approval. For the other 10, approval has not
been given. They would decide what material they are
going to be using and they would use a total of
20 materials and they put them all in the form. The
form has to be put in before commencement of work.
There m ay be a situation where for the 10 items that
have not been approved, let's say there are two that are
different from the original ones, we would keep an eye

on the situation on the site. The architect's team or
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the BS team would keep an eye on the situation. They
have to install the item that we have approved.
In the circular letter of the WSD in 2004, | think
it was No. 1/2004, there was a guideline to say that for
minor changes the licensed plumber h as to sign on the
annex, and then email or fax the information to the WSD,
for record.
So, before inspection by the WSD, this has to be
done. So we would approve the items that are submitted.
We would not look back on the annex to see whether there
is any deviation. If in fact there is a deviation, they
have to update it. There are certain things to cover at
the end of the contract.
Q. When the LP informs the WSD of the materials, were you
awar e of that?
A. No, we were not aware of that, because they don't tell
us directly.
Q. Let's have a look at one of the LPs, Mr Lam Tak Sum.
This is Q1, page 17.
A. Yes, I've got it.

Q. Paragraph 4, please have a look.

A. Yes, I've got it.
Q. Basically, he's saying -- this is his understanding
anyway -- if there are any changes, there is no need to

amend this and notify the WSD; all they need to do is to
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talk with the HD. Would you agree?

A. No. | must supp lement that for the HD BSE, we don't
have any resident BSE. We only have resident BS
inspectors. However, the main contractors do have
resident BSEs.

As regards this allegation against Mr Lam Tak Sum,
Kwai Luen Estate wa s under me. When | read this
statement, | did ask a couple of BSEs responsible for
Kwai Luen Estate whether they got in touch with Mr Lam
or whether they talked to him, and they said in unison
that they didn't.

This shoul  dn't have happened, because if there is
any deviation, in terms of the components, under the WSD
requirement they have to be updated, and this is
approved by the WSD and not the HD. So it's impossible
that my colleagues would tell him not to do it. We
would not be talking about this with the WSD. The list
has to be updated, it has to show all the installed
materials. | don't believe my colleagues would ever do
that. | did ask my colleagues and never talke dto
Mr Lam.

MR KHAW: Thank you. | have no further questions.

COMMISSIONER LAI: Yes, please sit down. | have two
guestions for Mr Leung.

There are regulations that prevent the occurrence of
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excess lead in water, and one of the recommendations is
to use the type with pressed built - in solder material or
the press - fit, push - fit compression types of jointing.

In the light of your experience, if we join the
pipes without using solder, would it be | ikely? Would
it be feasible?
A. Yes, in fact what Mr Lai said is in my statement. We do
have push - fit and press - fit components. But they are
relatively new in Hong Kong.
As to the reliability and durability of these types,
we have to find out, because if there is any bursting,
it would cause flooding. If it happens in the unit, it
would cause flooding in the unit. If it happens in the
common area, it would be flooding the lifts and the
corrid ors, and it would have very, very serious
consequences.
In 2002, it was common to use solder joints and
compression joints. Now, why soldering joints was
picked -- |agree with the selection, because all the
joints can be pretty reliable. Once this is done, this
can be subject to pressure test and it is durable. It
doesn't cause a lot of maintenance and repair and it is

simple to achieve.

Let's say a one - person household unit, there can be
60 joints. For a 800 - unit public housing block, we are
-39-
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talking about tens of thousands of joints of this
nature. So we have to make sure that the joints are
durable and they must have integrity. The joints at
that time was co rrect.

Coming back to Mr Lai's question, in the market out
there, there are some jointing that doesn't need any
soldering, like the press - fit and push - fit types of
joints. We would explore these jointing methods and see
how applicable they are to our projects. That would
remove the need of using solder.

With solder, of course we can do so many things. At
the stage of incoming materials, we can conduct
in - process testing.

COMMISSIONER LAI: W hat about pricing, in terms of costs?

A. I didn't hear you.

COMMISSIONER LALI: In terms of cost, would there be any
major difference?

A. I'm not sure about the pricing, but | am sure with
press - fit and push - fit types, they are more expe nsive
than solder joints.

The thing we have to consider is whether there is
such an availability in the market, because we need to
use a lot of jointing.

CHAIRMAN: You mentioned the 1993 General Specification,

that's an Architectural Services Department
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specification that you alluded to a moment ago. This is
General Specification for buildings. Does it mean that
the ASD promulgates these specifications for all
buildings in Hong Kong?
A. No, it is for projects under the ASD, only the ASD
projects.
CHAIRMAN: Thank you.
Any questions? Who would like to take the floor?
DR WONG: WSD doesn't have any questions.
Cross - examination by MR PENNICOTT
(All ques tions from Mr Pennicott were in English)
MR PENNICOTT: Mr Leung, | represent China State, the main
contractors for Kai Ching and Hung Hom. | just have
a few questions for you.

Could you be taken back, please, to a document we
were looking at earlier, at B15.3/39600. That's the
development and construction board management
instruction 25/02.

A. Yes, I've got it.

Q. If I understood the answer to some questions earlier,
Mr Leung, in 2002 you were a senio r building services
engineer; is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. In answer to a question from Commissioner Lai, you said

that you were aware of this document. Is that correct?
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A. Yes.

Q. Were you actually given a copy of it?

CHAIRMANWhen are you talking about?

MR PENNICOTT: In 2002, were you given a copy of this
document?

A. If you look at this document, 39605, the distribution
covers, line 5, CBSE/1. At that time, | was under
CBSE/1. So CBSE/1 received th e paper, he would
distribute it. If | remember correctly, we had this
through email. All the colleagues had this through
email, and in the email we were told about this document
and we had the e - Housing portal, we could get access
the folder.

Q. | see further down the page, where you see "cc" and you
travel down four lines, there's a reference to this
document being copied to SBSE/C1 and SBSE/C7. So that
does suggest very much, doesn't it, that you, a
a senior building services engineer, would have had this
document given to you at the time?

A. No. | wasn't SBSE/1. | was SBSE/7. So when | received
the paper, | didn't receive it through this cc copy.

Q. You did receive it non etheless?

A. I read it myself, yes. These instructions, we have to
be alive to them, because with new tenders we have to be

aware of these documents. For existing projects, we
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have to look at these instructions and see whether they
apply to the existing projects. So all these
instructions, we would read them.

Q. Okay. If we go back to page 39604, you will see that -

A. Can you say that again, the number?

Q. 39604.

A. (In English) Yes, I've got it.

Q. You will see that the instruction was signed by
Mr Daniel HM Lee; do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Who was, it appears, an assistant director in the
Development Department at the time; do you see that?

A. Correct.

Q. Did you know Mr Lee?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. I understand he retired, he has retired from the Housing
Authority. Is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. I understand he retired in about 2009. Does that accord
with your recollection?

A. | don't remember exactly when , but | believe that it was
in 2009 or 2010.

Q. Okay. Thank you very much.

Could | then move on to something slightly

different. In all of your nine witness statements,
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Mr Leung, you say that you became the chief building
services engineer for the nine affected estates on
8 September 2011. Is that correct?

A. Yes. | was acting as the CBSE.

Q. That being the case for those nine affected estates,

Mr Leung, would you accept this, that you were not
personally involved in the design stage of any of those
nine projects, as CBSE?

A. Yes. Yes. The latest one is Kwai Luen Estate or
Wing Cheong Estate. When | was the CBSE, the design
stage had already lapsed.

Q. Yes. Would th is be right, that in relation to the nine
affected estates, you were also not involved in the
tender stage of any of the projects?

A. | agree with your statement.

Q. Would you also agree that in relation to the process of
sampling -- materials sampling, you were also not
directly involved in that process, for any of the nine
estates?

A. Well, let me say this. | was not directly involved, but
my team was directly involved, and my team was under my
direct su  pervision.

As | said in my witness statement, that was part of
my work portfolio.

Q. Can | ask you please to look at paragraph 17 of your
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witness statement in relation to Hung Hom. That's
bundle 15.2/38621.

A. Yes, | see that.

Q. You say there at paragraph 17:

"The [contract manager's] site inspection team
conducted periodic and sample checks on materials and
workmanship for conformance to specifications and the
progress of the main contract or's works."

Mr Leung, you have no personal knowledge of that,
have you, so far as Hung Hom is concerned, because you
weren't there at the time that that happened?

A. Well, you cannot say that. When we did the design of
the plumbing works, the design was similar across alll
estates, so | was very well aware of the design of the
plumbing systems, and | also sent my engineer there, and
the resident site staff also reported to me, and there
might be some s  ort of redeployment of manpower among the
different projects. | should have certain knowledge of
new projects.

Q. Mr Leung, when you joined as CBSE the Hung Hom project,
two of the blocks had already been certified as
substantia  Illy complete, and one was two months off being
substantially complete.

A. Yes, correct.

Q. You have no personal knowledge of what happened on the
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Hung Hom site at all before September 2011, do you?
A. Yes, that's true. But then the f ormer CBSE retired and
| replaced him and | took over the project. So all
projects under him, including Hung Hom Estate Phase 2,
was under my work portfolio, and one of the estates,
block 3, was not certified completed yet.
For the BS installation, the last part of the BS
installation, it was | who certified the completion.
Q. All right. Can | just take you to a different point
now. As well as the nine affected estates that you deal
with in your witn ess statements, am | right in thinking
that you were also the CBSE between September 2011 and
July 2012 on the two estates that you don't deal with,
that is on Kai Ching and Un Chau?
A. Correct.
Q. I would like to ask you some quest ions about Kai Ching.
Now, could | ask you please to be given bundle F2.
Could you please go to page 1370.
A. Yes, | see that.
Q. This should be a memo from China State to two of the
project clerks of works on the Kai Ching project. Do
you see that?
A. Yes, | see that.
Q. Itis dated 14 June 2012; do you see that?

A. Yes, | do.
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Q. So that's one month before you ceased to be the CBSE for
Kai Ching; do you understand?

A. No, that's not correct. For Kai Chi ng Estate, | started
to be the acting CBSE starting from September 2011. At
that time, in early September 2011, | was the CBSE for
Kai Ching, until July 2012, and then this was dated
14 June 2012. So | was still the CBSE for this project.

Q. | thought that's what | put to you, that this is one
month before you stopped being CBSE or ceased to be the
CBSE. Do you understand?

A. Yes, yes. | now understand.

Q. Thank you. This is a memo which says:

"We would like to submit herewith the material
delivery note during the period from 1 June to 15 June
2012 ..."

We see at the foot of the page it's copied to
Mr Henry Luk, who | understand was the project architect
on Kai Chin  g. Can you confirm that?

A. Correct.

Q. And also to the senior clerk of works, Mr CH Wong; do
you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And also to the project quantity surveyor, Ms Cynthia
Szeto, who | understand works for an outside consultant,

Davis Langdon & Seah?
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A. Yes, correct.
Q. Although we note that they don't seem to have been
copied with the attachments, that is it says "(w/0)",
without enclosures; do you see that?
A. Yes.
Q. The only reason for showing you this, Mr Leung, is this.
If you go over the page, please, to page 1373 --
A. Yes, | see that.
Q. -- you should see a delivery note, which has caused some
interest in the Commission of Inquiry so far, and also,
if you go over anothe r couple of pages to 1375 --
A. Yes, | see that.
Q. -- youwill see another delivery note from Prosperity.
So those delivery notes are going to certainly two
representatives at least of the Housing Authority.
Could I ask you then just to go to page 1394.
That's another memo, slightly later, 23 June 2012; do
you see that?
A. Yes, | see that.
Q. What it says here is that what's being submitted, at 1:
"Table 1: Summary of material delivery on site
checked under form 6210."
And secondly:
"Delivery notes of the material which is not covered

in table 1."
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Do you see that?
A. Yes.
Q. The memo is copied again to the same people, with the
addition of Ms E laine Wong, another project architect.
A. | see that.
Q. As it happens, amongst many other things, if you go
page 1415 --
A. Yes, | see that.
Q. -- the same delivery note we were looking at just
a moment ago was sent again, and if y ou go to page 1417,
you will see the other delivery note we were looking at
just a moment ago.
A. | see that.
Q. What | want to ask you, Mr Leung, is this. Obviously
| can't ask you whether Mr Sheung and Mr Woo looked at
thes e documents. | have no idea. But can you tell us,
the project clerk of works having received this memo
with the attachments, what would have happened to them?
Where would they have gone within the Housing Authority?
A. The architect' s team resident on site is not under my
supervision. The contract administration for the
plumbing system was also the responsibility of the
architect's team, so | don't have information for your
answer.

Q. So there's no set proc edure that you are aware of, as

-49-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneberpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 17

a senior member of the Housing Authority, as to what
should happen if memos are given by contractors to site
staff on site?
CHAIRMAN: | don't think he can give you any answer on that
guestion. Ev en if you ask me, memos coming into the
judiciary, where they are put, | wouldn't be able to
give you an answer either.
MR PENNICOTT: All right. | will leave it there. Thank you
very much.
CHAIRMAN: (In English) Thank you.
Any other questions? Please be more forthcoming in
asking questions. Mr Chung?
MR E CHUNG: | represent Paul Y. The project they worked on
is Wing Cheong Estate. | have two follow - up questions
on risk.
Cross - exami nation by MR E CHUNG
Q. Mr Alan Lai, the Commissioner, asked that in relation to
your recommendation in the witness statement, one is
that for future projects, compression joints, press - fit
and push - fit joints should be used. In your answer just
now, you said that this approach can alleviate the lead
in water problem, but you said you were not sure about
the functions of these joints; if they are not strong
enough, there may be leakage of water.

Now, I  would like to discuss with you this paper.
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The Housing Authority has sent up an independent Review
Committee, and an interim report was issued on
6 October. Have you seen that report?

A. Yes.

Q. Let's look at that report which is related to our
discussion. Bundle B3.1/38, page 1164.

A. Yes, | see that.

Q. Paragraph 12, please. It says that at the seventh
meeting, the HD discussed with the colleagues from the
Estate Management Division, especially on maint enance
and repair works.

Please spend some time to go through paragraph 12

first.

A. Yes, | have finished reading through it.

Q. Of course, this is their comment or opinion. But
| would like to pose this question to you a s a CBSE: the
information they collected might be more than what you
have on hand, but | would like to ask you this. In
relation to maintenance works, they have been using
compression joints alone and there aren't any problems
in this approach, and this is the impression they have
got, and the members of the Review Committee also agree
that there is a lesser risk in doing that. Why they
have this conclusion? The HD has given them a paper,

and the pape rnumber is RC 29/2015. That's B3.2/26.
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A. Yes, I've got it.

Q. Turn to page 1, please. Further down, paragraph 2,
please. There is a table there. Paragraph 3.

A. Yes.

Q. We can see that there are some numbers there: 1,188,

a p retty large number, and we have copper and
non- copper, and also it covers the corridor, and so on.
For soldering, 151, and then compression, 503;
mechanical, common area, 163. So basically, they are
using compression joints.
If I may refer you to paragraph 5, on page 2388.

A. Yes.

Q. Paragraph 5, please have a look.

A. Yes.

Q. Please have a look at footnote 1 as well, please.

A. Yes.

Q. Taken together, it means that estate management staff,
ther e are a few hundred of them, some would carry out
minor improvement. In footnote 1, there may be some
older housing estates where they need re - plumbing.

Re- plumbing has to take place for the entire housing

estate. The amount of wo rk would be the same as the new
ones.
So if | may put this to you: when re - plumbing is

undertaken for the entire block, would the residents
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move out first, before work will take place or will you
be carrying it out in pha ses?
CHAIRMAN: | can't see how this is relevant to the terms of
reference. | don't think it has anything to do with any
of the recommendations, whether the residents move out

or not.

MR E CHUNG: When the Housing Department carries out

re - plumbing for these types of estates and the use of
press - fit and push - fit type, and there is no leakage

problem, we asked one of the property managers.

CHAIRMAN: | would just like to know -- all of them are

suggesting alte rnative methods and this is one of the
recommendations. | don't think we need to go into such
minute detail about mechanical or press - fit, push
compression, or the advantages or disadvantages, cost
implications, convenience to the residents, and so on.
| don't think we need to go into that kind of details.

MR E CHUNG: All right. Perhaps | will move on to the next
one.

CHAIRMAN: Yes.

MR E CHUNG: The chairman put this question to you, that you
used B S 1254, table 6, there are three risks there. The
first is that in general, you said by common sense lead
is harmful to human health; second, the lead that might

leach into the water, you said you weren't aware of that
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and how thi s would impact on human beings, and so on.
| remember when you mentioned BS 1254 or the

previous, 864, you said that you knew lead was --
A. Yes, 864 and 1254 said that for human consumption, no

leaded solder could be used.
Q. | fthe copper pipes are conveying water for human

consumption, and if there is a solder joint and if lead

cannot be allowed, presumably there is a worry that the

lead might affect human health?

A. If you look at 2002, when the specifica tions were
drafted -- engineers are very strict with matters; they
follow the rules and guidebooks -- ifthere is no

requirement in the British Standard, then and now, and
under the WWO, we have to follow the British Standard,
then in a very straightforward way we would include this
into the specifications.

We may have the common sense that lead is harmful to
human health. | am sure most of the people would have
this understanding. But they wouldn' t think of the fact
that the leaded solder would leach into the water.

It may be in the BS standard, but we are not sure
why there is such a requirement. First, | don't know
myself, and at that time those who drafted the
specifications, | don't think they knew. | think their

thinking would be the same as my thinking. We are
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strict, very strict, with the rules. We don't beat
about the bush.

Q. I don't think I will follow up the question.

The third question, if | may turn to a different

area. After the lead in water incident in mid - August,
the DCMB promulgated an instruction to change the
existing Specification Library and also some other
information. If | may take you to B15.1/337.

A. Please say again. What page?

Q. B15.1/337. Page 37590.

A. Yes, I've got it.

Q. Let me put this to you. Distribution, there are two
CBSEs, 1 and 2. Is one of them you?

A. One is me.

Q. You notice this paper?

A. Yes, of course.

Q. Without going into detail, | would like to look at
annex 3. Page 37615.

A. Yes.

Q. On this page, it is a budget estimate. For new
contracts, there are two parts: building contract
additional cost, that' s 70,000 cost, and there is also
material testing on the next page. Taken together, it
is 120,000 per block.

Apparently, the testing would be strengthened, the
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manpower would be beefed up, and this is the cost that
would be incurred on behalf of the Housing Department?
A. Yes.
Q. When tendering takes place, the contractor would have to
increase the manpower and this cost would be reflected?
A. Yes, the tendering price would be reflecting this.
Q. Ifwel ook at the footnote at page 37615:
"The estimates for budgeting purpose are only
applicable to new building contracts to be tendered, ie
not applicable to post - contract variation works."
| read your statement earlier. Regar ding building
services, the contract manager delegates you the power
as the CMR. Earlier in the Inquiry, we said that if
there are any testings at the post - contract stage, the
contract manager would issue an instruction under the
GCC if there is any additional work.
A. It often happens that there is variation. It is not
often that there is a variation to order the testing.
Q. The costs | mention are not applicable to the proposed
contract variation.
A. Th e $70,000 per block -- in the tender, this is the
additional $70,000 per block priced by the contractor
for post - contract variation -- this has to be
negotiable. It may not be $70,000; it may be a more

reasonable range.
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Q. Ith ink you have made it very clear. We don't go into
the detail about the pricing. We are just talking about
the mechanism.

Let me turn to something else here. HKIE is
a professional body. It has published a report
regard ing the lead in water incident.

A. | know about it.

Q. Yes, you know about that. Without going into detail,
there are a couple of points | would like to highlight.
Maybe this is common sense. This is U1/3.

A. Yes.

Q. Page 6.

A. Yes.

Q. We don't have to go into detail, but mainly the HKIE has
many disciplines and has structural engineering BS and
so on. Most of them are building services engineers.

A. Yes.

Q. I don't go into detail, but let's have a look at

A. The bundle number or the report number?

Q. U1/3 was the bundle. The page, if you look at the
paginated number, page 9, paragraphs 6 and 7 --
mentions the task force from the building services
engineers.

"It was also a joint effort of the building services

division of the HKIE and the Hong Kong branch of the
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Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers,
UK. In addition, the Australian chapter, the Canadian
chapter and the UK ¢ hapter ... had assisted in
clarifying ... measures ..."
Let me put a relevant question here.
Let's go to page 31. Your page number is 24.
A. Yes, I've got it.
Q. In 2002, you allow copper pipes as an alternative, and
in fact copper pipes have been used for some time in the
trade?
A. Yes. They started using them in the 1980s, copper pipes
and solder joints.
Q. In the trade, are there similar problems? Paragraph 96:
"For private developments , all copper pipes are
concealed: behind building finishes, above decorative
ceiling, behind kitchen cabinets ..."
Do you agree with that?
A. For private developments, yes, because they attach

importance to the look.

Q. Fo r maintenance and repair -- for ease of maintenance

and repair, a lot of your piping is exposed.
A. Yes.
Q. We appreciate that. But paragraph 96:
"For private developments, all copper pipes are

concealed ..."
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Soift here is leakage of water, the maintenance may
be more costly, and yours are exposed.

Let's look at the next page. They use a silver
brazing, even though it's more costly.

Now let's take a look at paragraph 98. It says that
workers are not comfortable with silver brazing, and the
reason is set out in paragraph 99, because the
temperature required is higher for silver brazing and
the equipment used is different. If we are talking
about tin solde r, the temperature requirement is
200 degrees centigrade. In paragraph 98 it is said that
the cost can be three times more.

So, in paragraph 96, the developers only allow the
use of silver brazing.

If we just do a com parison among the statistics,
there is less risk of -- therisk of non - leaded
soldering materials is lower.

Have you considered using other types of connection
or jointing?

A. | was not involved in the work of the central tea m in
revising the specifications, but looking at the present
specifications, it says copper pipes with solder joints,
and brazing is allowed under our specifications, and it
is up to the developers or the contractors to choose

whether to use solder or brazing. Brazing, of course,
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is more costly, and generally contractors will resort to
solder.
In paragraph 99, it is said that 400 to
450 centigrade is required for silver brazing, but
normally  we have to use 800.
So there is also a concern with silver brazing in
terms of health and hygiene. If you look at BS 1254,
table 6, there are six items. The first three items are
solder and the last three items are brazing.
Some brazings may come with cadmium, which is
a heavy metal too, and after the lead in water incident,
the WSD's circular has asked for four more heavy metals
to be tested and one of them is cadmium.
So, with hindsight, using solder or brazing carries
a risk. So if some workers or main contractors are
trying to take advantage of the situation, they can do
that using either brazing or solder. For brazing, from
a technical point of view, we have to use two cylinders.
One is oxygen and the other potassium or what. So great
energy has to be created and a temperature of 800
centigrade has to be achieved, and you have to braze it
for a long time.
Now, | mentioned that there are tens of thousands of
joints for a single block, and many workers are required

to do brazing. So I don't think that's the right way to
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go.

Q. So, Mr Leung, would you consider this: there are so many
flats in private de velopment properties.

A. But for a block in a private development property, there
might be only, say, eight flats on one floor, and then
40 floors, and 320 units altogether. But for us, there
are as many as 800 to 1,000 units within o ne single
block.

Q. I'would like to follow up on this question: the WSD has
asked for four extra heavy metals to be tested,
including cadmium, after the incident. After the
guidelines have been issued, have you tested for cadmiu
in water?

A. Since after the WSD has issued the news circular,
actually, not many projects have been completed
recently. The financial year ends in March every year,
and relatively more projects are completed towards the
last quarter of the financial year, so not many new
projects have been completed recently.

Now, we have tested for the four heavy metals in the
new projects and the results are satisfactory; no
problem with the lead either.
MR E CHUNG: All right. | don't have any further questions.
Cross - examination by MR TAM

MR TAM: You discussed stability. For solder joints, the
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soldering work can be completed more quickly; is that
right?

A. No, there isn't a great difference in the time of works.
You are talking about compression joints and soldering
joints. In terms of time required, there isn't much
difference, but if you have to work on compression
joints, then it's harder f or the worker, because the
worker has to grab two spanners and then they have to
work with two spanners in both hands.

So, for the worker, he may have worked on more
solder joints and compression joints within the same
per iod. And for solder joints, the pressure test, the
result is always satisfactory; but for compression
joints, whether they are durable depends on the strength
exercised by the worker. Now, water flows through the
pipes then someti mes there may be some sort of water
hammering of the water taps and the water taps may
vibrate a bit. Because of this and also because of the
changes in the weather, the compression joints may get
loose a few years after they are ¢ ompleted. This is
something rather common.

So, at that time, we think that soldering was
cost - effective, it was durable; this is the prudent
approach to take.

MR TAM: No questions.
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CHAIRMAN: Any further questions?
MR HO: Yes.
CHAIRMAN: How long will you take with your questioning?
MR HO: Not too long. | can complete it in 15 minutes.
CHAIRMAN: If you will take 15 minutes, let's proceed after
the lunch break.
MR HO: So | will try to finish my question ing within five
minutes.
CHAIRMAN: Going by my experience, some of your questions
are really quite superfluous. You don't have to ask
them.
Re- examination by MR HO
MR HO: Let me discuss with you one or two issue s. In your
answer to Mr Lai, you talked about press - fit, push - fit.
You were exploring the feasibility; right?
A. Yes. The study may take a long time.
Q. In your reply to Mr Chung, you also said that silver
brazing may not be neces sarily better; it has its own
constraints as well.
CHAIRMAN: He's already answered that.
A. There's no advantage of using brazing than soldering
joint.
MR HO: Your answer is that if not for the contractors
trying to take advantag e of the works, then solder

joints could be a good option; right?
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A. Yes.

Q. Let's take a look at the B2 specification of 2002,
page 779. This is on red lead. | would like to clarify
one point. Mr Lai has asked you about the red lead.

A. Page 779. Yes, I've got that.

Q. With hindsight, you said that this is for cast iron
pipe.

A. Yes.

Q. This is for drainage?

A. And not for water supply.

Q. So if you are talking about drainage pipes, that might
not have to do with hygiene and health?

A. That might have something to do with hygiene but not
health. This is not for drinking.

Q. Okay. Copper pipes. You said that copper pipes and
soldering joints have been used in the construction
industry in Hong Kong for eight years.

A. | was talking about the Hong Kong context.

Q. In 2002, you switched to allowing the contractors to use
copper pipes. Were there any hygiene and health
concerns that you were aware of?

CHAIRMAN: The rusting, the issue of rusting.

MR HO: The problem of rusting - what about the copper
pipes?

CHAIRMAN: Well, they've not used them.
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MR HO: At that time, you were not using it, but the market
and the property developers were u sing it.
A. I was not in the central team dealing with this, but
I've never heard that there were such concerns. What's
most important is copper joints and soldering have been
in use in Hong Kong for 20 years and there has not been
any major incident in relation to hygiene or health
issues. I've never heard of that.
Q. Now, you said that in 2002 you were beginning to allow
the contractors to make a choice. If there had been
a health concern, you would have already raised it?
A. Absolutely no concern.
Q. So the main contractors were given a choice?
A. Correct.
Q. There is one issue which | might not have heard clearly.
Mr Khaw asked you about the statement of Ho Biu Kee.
You said that you have not heard that the workers were
doing a demonstration within the sample room.
A. Not before July, but | have recently heard about it.
Q. You have heard it recently? Is it because Ho Biu Kee
has submitted a statement and then you read it?
A. It's not Ho Biu Kee, it's Ming Hop.
Q. But the statement was for Ming Hop, instead of
Ho Biu Kee.

A. Well, that's related to Yau Lee.
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Q. So under what circumstance, after July?

A. We read or saw this statement mentioning that there was
a site demonstration for our colleagues, and because of
this | learned about it. But for myself, | have not
watched such demonstration before. | have not heard
about it either.

CHAIRMAN: Any other further questio n? You are actually
asking one thing here.

MR HO: That doesn't matter.

CHAIRMAN: No further question?

Then thank you, Mr Leung, for coming to give your
evidence. You may now leave.

WITNESS: Thank you, Chairman and members.

(The witness withdrew)

MR KHAW: Timetable. Yesterday, the counsel team said they
would discuss among themselves on the timetable of the
hearing.

CHAIRMAN: First of all, let's deal with Mr Hui's question.

He sai dthatif it is at all possible -

MR HUI: (Chinese spoken).

INTERPRETER: Sorry, the speaker is not coming through so
the interpreter can't interpret.

CHAIRMAN: Please take a seat.

Mr Li, what about you?

MR LI: (Chinese spoken).
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INTERPRETER: Sorry, the speaker is not coming through.

CHAIRMAN: Not at this stage.

MR LI: (Chinese spoken).

INTERPRETER: Mr Liis not coming through.

CHAIRMAN: When?

MR LI: (Chinese spoken).

INTERPRETER: Mr Li is not coming through.

MR LI: (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: | can't hear you. Say again? | can't hear you.

MR LI: (Chinese spoken).

INTERPRETER: Mr Liis not coming through.

MR LI: (Chinese spoken). We need some time to make
preparation before we testify, so we do need the time to
make proper preparation. | hope we can be accommodated.
We would like to have a bit of time, maybe a week, for
us to be fully prepared.

CHAIRMAN: I wouldn't allow one week. One day, yes.

MR LI: (Chinese s poken).

MR KHAW: Let me add, Mr Siu's statement should be ready by
today, so we might need the weekend. If Mr Li would
like to have some time, we don't have any in - principle
objection, to be fair. Other than Mr Mok and Mr Siu's
statement, everything is ready.

MR LI: (Chinese spoken).

INTERPRETER: Mr Liis not coming through.
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Can somebody give him a mic, please?
MR LI: (Chinese spoken).
INTERPRETER: | can't hear Mr Li.
MR LI: Of course we would like to h ave one week but
otherwise we can get started on Wednesday.
CHAIRMAN: What are we going to do in these two days?
MR LI: It may cause some inconvenience but we do have some
difficulties. We got the papers so late. There are so
many housing estates to cope with. We have thousands of
pages to put together. And we need some time.
CHAIRMAN: I do allow you one day. That's as much as | can
allow. You have the weekend. Your client is a large
company. You don't ha ve to approach the top guy. The
top guy doesn't normally know about it because he
doesn't do it.
MR LI: It's not only the weekend, we work until very late
at night these days.
CHAIRMAN: | appreciate that. You don't have to do it
yourself. You have the legal team. You have the law
firm. If you can't do it, your lawyers can do it.
Honestly, Yau Lee, do you approach the chairman,
CEOQO? He's the top one.

MR LI: Yes.

CHAIRMAN: But was he involved in these housing estates?

MR LI: | think you have to wait for him to testify.
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CHAIRMAN: No, | don't think so. CEO and the chairman
rolling up their sleeves and doing the work for these
housing estates?

Is Yau Lee a listed company ? 1 don't know.

MR LI: I don't know. | appreciate that. Perhaps Tuesday
then.

CHAIRMAN: | allow you one day and that's as much as | can
allow, although | don't really want to do it, frankly.

One day, no more.

MR LI: Thank you.

MR PENNICOTT: Mr Chairman, can | make my usual Friday
request for information. | made the same point last
Friday. Could we be told what the latest position is on
Prof Bellinger's report, and could we please be told
what the la  test position is on whether or not a plumbing
expert is to be called?

Can | also make this enquiry from the Housing
Authority: we understood that Mr TT Cheung, chairman of
the Review Committee, is to be called. We wondered what
the Housing Authority's position was on that.

MR KHAW: Prof Bellinger's report, it can be available by
early December. As to the plumbing expert's report, we
are seeking further information. | think next week,
when we meet aga in, we can confirm the availability

time.
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CHAIRMAN: So Tuesday then?

Mr Khaw, you can take a break on Monday.

MR KHAW: One more point. For the Housing Department or
Housing Authority, there are five more witnesses about
the EMD, we have seen the statements. | have nothing
much to ask, unless chairman and other counsel would
like to put questions. We are not going to read out
their statements.

CHAIRMAN: | don't see the need for that.

Solet 's meetagain at 10.00 on Tuesday morning.
Yau Lee will go first.
How many witnesses will be called?

MR LI: Only one.

CHAIRMAN: If you say your chairman can answer all the
guestions, then so be it.

MR LI: Just one.

CHAIRMANBUut | do have reservations.

It is up to you.

MR HO: What is the thinking right now? Are we going to
cover all the contractors --

CHAIRMAN: Contractors, subcontractors and plumbers.

MR HO: Contractor/plumber, contractor/plumber. We are
preparing some more information. We will have further
witness statements to be made available.

| am not sure whether my thinking is right. Are you
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going to cover all the contractors first before you come
back - -

CHAIRMAN: Yes, basically we will cover all the contractors
and the plumbers, and then we will come back to the
Housing Authority and the Housing Department, like
Mr Wong Bay and the assistant director.

MR HO: Yes, I've got that, C hairman. | would just like to
find out about the arrangement.

CHAIRMAN: And then we will let everybody know. With this
batch of witnesses out of the way, then we will move on
to the Water Supplies Department, and thereafter we will
have the two experts.

This is the order of withesses. Thank you very
much.

(1.10 pm)

(The hearing adjourned until 10.00 am

on Tuesday, 1 December 2015)
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